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Your directors present their report on the consolidated entity consisting of Atrum Coal NL and the entities it
controlled at the end of, or during, the year ended 30 June 2016.  Throughout the report, the consolidated
entity is referred to as the group.

DIRECTORS

The names of the directors of the Company in office during the year and up to the date of this report are as
follows:

Robert Bell Executive Chairman (appointed 31 August 2015)
James Chisholm Non-Executive Director (appointed 25 October 2011)
Cameron Vorias Non-Executive Director (appointed 3 July 2014)
Steven Boulton Non-Executive Director (appointed 22 August 2014)
John Wasik Non-Executive Director (appointed 31 August 2015)

Directors remain appointed as at the date of this report unless otherwise stated.

The particulars of the qualifications, experience and special responsibilities of each director are as follows:

Robert Bell - Executive Chairman (appointed 31 August 2015)

Robert (Bob) Bell  is  a qualified Mining Engineer with more than 28 years’ experience in the Canadian coal
industry and international coal markets.  He has executive management experience with a strong focus on
coal marketing and rail, port and marine logistics.  In addition, he brings experience in mine planning and
operations, finance and treasury, technical marketing, capital projects oversight and business development.
He has a well-established presence in the Canadian coal industry and has served as Chairman of the Coal
Association  of  Canada.   He  also  served  two  terms  as  Chair  of  Neptune  Bulk  Terminals  (Canada)  Ltd.   He
currently serves on the boards of the Western Canadian Shippers Coalition and the Western Canadian Coal
Society.  In 2007, Bob was appointed Chief Commercial Officer of the coal business unit of Canada’s Teck
Resources,  the  world’s  second  largest  exporter  of  coking  coal  and  was  responsible  for  all  Teck’s  coal
marketing, logistics and commercial operations.  Bob was former CEO of Ram River Coal Corporation, a
Canadian company with a metallurgical coal project in Alberta, and former President and Chief Operating
Officer of Pine Valley Mining Corporation.

Bob has extensive experience in transportation including negotiation of major rail and port agreements,
logistics and arbitration of commercial disputes, transportation strategy, marketing strategy development,
major commercial agreement negotiations with steel mills and off-take partners and general corporate
development.  Bob’s education includes a degree in Mining Engineering from McGill University in Montreal, a
Master’s degree in Business Administration from Queen’s University in Kingston Ontario and the Directors
Education Program (ICD.D) from the Rotman School of Management/Institute of Corporate Directors.

James Chisholm – Non - Executive Director (appointed 25 October 2011)

James Chisholm is a qualified engineer, holding a degree in electrical engineering, who has worked in the
engineering and mining sectors for the past 28 years, initially in engineering, then management, then M&A
roles.  James co-founded The Chairmen1 Pty Ltd (which is the largest shareholder of Guildford Coal Limited
ASX:  GUF),  Ebony Iron Pty  Ltd (now part  of  Strategic Minerals  PLC,  AIM:  SML),  Fertoz  Limited (ASX:  FTZ)  and
Ebony Energy Limited.

Mr Chisholm is currently non-executive director of ASX listed Fertoz Limited (ASX: FTZ) and is currently a
director of unlisted Ebony Coal Limited.

Mr Chisholm was not a director of any other publicly listed companies in the last three years.

As at 30 September 2016, Mr Chisholm has an indirect holding of 38,662,266 fully paid ordinary shares through
Lenark Pty Ltd and an indirect holding of 74,118 fully paid ordinary shares through Bucket Super Ltd in the
Company and 750,000 performance rights in the Company.

Cameron Vorias – Non Executive Director (appointed 3 July 2014)

Mr Vorias has in excess of 30 years operational experience in the mining industry including underground and
open cut metallurgical coal mining and large scale hematite iron ore operations.  He has a solid track record
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in new mine development, resource management and risk management.  He has worked around the world
including Autralia, South Africa, Venezuela, China, Alaska USA and Indonesia.

Mr  Vorias  started  his  career  with  BHP  Iron  Ore  in  Mount  Newman  as  a  mining  engineer  where  he  was
responsible for open cut planning and operations before moving to work for Shell International in London as
the business development and project acquisition manager with responsibility for the acquisition of the Paso
Diablo and Socuy mines in Venezuela.

Mr Vorias was previously General Manager for New Hope Coal where he constructed and operated the New
Acland  Mine  near  Toowoomba,  Queensland,  producing  7Mtpa  run-of-mine  coal  and  employing
approximately 200 people.  He was also previously General Manager (Queensland Operations) for Excel
Coal where he developed and commissioned the $350M “Millennium” coal mine in central Queensland,
employing approximately 300 people and producing 1.5Mt of product in the first year of operation.  He held
the position of  Chief  Operating Officer  (Queensland)  for  Peabody Energy Australia  where he managed six
large underground and open cut coal mining operations which generated in excess of US$1.8n in revenue
annually and employed 1,500 people.

Mr Vorias is currently Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer of Sojitz Coal Mining Pty Ltd.  In this role,
he is responsible for the management of a large open cut coal mine.  As well,  he is currently reviewing a
number of new Australian business opportunities on behalf of Sojitz.

Mr Vorias is also currently a Non-Executive Director of Coal of Queensland Pty Ltd, an emerging coking coal
mining company in Queensland.

As  at  30  September  2016,  Mr  Vorias  holds  zero  fully  paid  ordinary  shares  in  the  Company  and  60,000
performance rights.

Steven Boulton – Non Executive Director (appointed 22 August 2014)

Mr  Steven  Boulton,  MTM,  BBus,  FAICD,  FAIM,  CAHRI,  FCIA,  has  in  excess  of  35  years’  operational  and
investment experience in major infrastructure projects, including ports, rail, roads, airports and utilities.  He is
one  of  Australia’s  leading  infrastructure  executives  and  currently  serves  as  Managing  Director  at  CP2,  an
Australian based infrastructure investment and asset manager.

He has previously performed in a number of major infrastructure advisory roles:

Chief Executive Officer – Allgas Energy Ltd (gas transmission/distribution utility)
Chief Executive Officer – Powerco Limited (NZ’s 2nd largest electricity/gas distribution enterprise)
Chief Executive Officer – Prime/BBI Infrastructure ($3.7 billion infrastructure fund)
Chief Executive Officer – Hastings Funds Management ($7 billion infrastructure fund)
Executive Director – Australian Pacific Airports Corporation
Executive Chairman – Dalrymple Bay Coal Terminal (one of the world’s largest coal export facilities)
Executive Chairman – PD Ports (UK’s 2nd largest commodity seaport)
Executive Chairman – WestNet Rail (WA rail network)
Executive Chairman – International Energy Group (UK’s 2nd largest independent last-mile gas utility)
Non-Executive Director – Port of Brisbane Pty Ltd
Non-Executive Director – Infrastructure Partnerships Australia
Non-Executive Director – The Australian Infrastructure Fund

Steve is  a  seasoned fund and asset  management  executive having held CEO/MD roles  with  CP2,  Hastings
Funds Management, BBI/Prime, Powerco NZ and Allgas over his 35 year career in the infrastructure and utility
sectors.  Assets managed in these entities included electricity, gas and water transmission/distribution,
seaports, airports, power generation and road/rail networks.

Steve has held positions as Chairman/Director on a range of entities on behalf of investors and Chaired an
infrastructure fund manager Investment Committee.  He has led multiple M&A processes with exposure to
both equity and debt capital markets.

Steve holds a Graduate Diploma in Applied Corporate Governance, a Masters of Technology Management
and  a  double  major  Bachelor  of  Business.   Steve  is  a  Fellow  member  of  the  Australian  Institute  of
Management, Australian Institute of Company Directors, Governance Institute of Australia, Chartered
Institute of Secretaries and a Certified member of the Australian Human Resources Institute.
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Mr Boulton will assist the Board deliver a low cost infrastructure strategy in the initial stages of production at
Groundhog. Longer term he will help the Company navigate a range of off-balance sheet options to
infrastructure expansion funding (rail, port, power), which would be required to facilitate a multi-mine
strategy.

As  at  30  September  2016,  Mr  Boulton  holds  zero  fully  paid  ordinary  shares  in  the  Company  and  60,000
performance rights.

John Wasik – Non-Executive Director (appointed 31 August 2015)

John is currently a Non-Executive Director of Cobbora Holding Co. a permitted coal mine in NSW owned by
the NSW State Government and a Non-Executive Director of Kuro Coal Ltd, a subsidiary of Atrum.  John was
former Non-Executive Director and Chairman of Ampcontrol Pty Ltd, a manufacturing and electrical services
company  in  which  Washington  H  Soul  Pattinson  holds  a  major  stake.   He  is  a  graduate  member  of  the
Australian Institute of Company Directors, and holds a BSc in Minerals Exploitation.  John has worked in the
mining sector for 40 years.  He was Group Executive for Peabody Energy Corporation’s Southwest Operations
in North America for five years overseeing more than 20Mtpa of coal production in Arizona, New Mexico and
Colorado.  This included establishing a highwall mining division within Peabody which operated in the Rocky
Mountains of Colorado.  Prior to this, John was General Manager of Peabody’s 6Mtpa Ravensworth/Narama
mines for seven years and previously held the position of Mine Manager at both Ravensworth and Warkworth
mines.  He has a track record of developing major projects, from exploration of new resources to justification,
development and operation of new mines and major mine expansions.  John will work with the other Non-
Executive Directors to guide the Company as it moves from explorer to developer.

Mr Wasik’s employment agreement otherwise contains standard terms and conditions for agreements of this
nature including notice periods in the event of termination and expense reimbursements.

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Corporate Structure

Atrum is a no liability company that is incorporated and domiciled in Australia.

Nature of Operations and Principal Activities

The principal continuing activities during the year, of entities within the Group was anthracite exploration and
development in British Columbia, Canada.

OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

Review of Operations

A review of operations for the year, and the results of those operations is contained within the company
review.

Operating Results

Consolidated loss after income tax for the year was $11,745,289 (2015: $19,206,333).

Financial Position

At 30 June 2016, the Group had cash reserves of $1,871,124 (2015: $253,058).

Additionally, pursuant to an Offset Loan Agreement with Lenark Pty Ltd, a related entity of non-executive
director,  Mr.  James  Chisholm,  the  Company  has,  subject  to  the  approval  of  any  cash  calls  by  Lenark,  a
facility with a limit of $845,153.



DIRECTORS REPORT

5

Financing and Investing Activities

On 24 August 2015, 9,847,258 fully paid ordinary shares were issued under an Entitlement Offer.

On 8 September 2015, 200,000 fully paid ordinary shares and 1,150,000 options were issued as a fee for
restructuring the Anglo Pacific Promissory Note.

On 11 September 2015, 6,162,743 fully paid ordinary shares were issued under a placement following the
entitlement offer.

On 29 December 2015 1,000,000 options were issued as a fee for restructuring the Anglo Pacific Promissory
Note.

On 30 December 2015, 200,000 fully paid ordinary shares were issued following hurdles being met on
performance rights.

On 3 February 2016, 150,000 fully paid ordinary shares were issued following exercise of options.

On 23 March 2016, 340,000 fully paid ordinary shares were issued following conversion of convertible notes.

On 1 April 2016, 200,000 fully paid ordinary shares were issued as a fee for restructuring the Anglo Pacific
Promissory Note.

On 23 March 2016, 3,184,786 and 3,524,786 fully paid ordinary shares were issued following conversion of
convertible notes.

On 6 May 2016, 980,000 fully paid ordinary shares and 980,000 options were issued following conversion of
convertible notes.

On 13 May 2016, 3,694,000 fully paid ordinary shares and 3,694,000 options were issued following conversion
of convertible notes.

Dividends

No dividends were paid during the year and no recommendation is made as to dividends.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS

Significant changes in the state of affairs of the Group during the year are detailed in the Company review.

Other  than  as  disclosed,  there  has  been  no  matter  or  circumstance  that  has  arisen  that  has  significantly
affected, or may significantly affect:

1. the Group’s operations in future financial years, or
2. the results of those operations in future financial years, or
3. the Group’s state of affairs in future financial years.

In the opinion of the directors, there were no other significant changes in the state of affairs of the Company
that occurred during the period under review not otherwise disclosed in this report or in the financial report.



DIRECTORS REPORT

6

EVENTS SINCE THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR

On 30 July 2016, Atrum Coal NL entered into a binding agreement relating to the proposed acquisition of a
26.68% interest in Atlantic Carbon Group PLC (incorporated in England and Wales) (ACG).

Atrum is intending to complete the acquisition of the interest in ACG (‘Acquisition’) shareholder approval was
gained at an Extra-Ordinary General Meeting (EGM) on 29 September 2016.

Key Acquisition Terms

The binding agreement for the Acquisition has been entered into with Stephen Best (the current CEO of
ACG) and persons and entities connected with Stephen Best, including Mayford Equities Limited, Mary Best,
Willoughby (465) Limited, Lucy Best, Helen Frankland, Penn Carb Inc and Mount Charles (Mayfair) Limited
(together, the Vendors).

Subject to the satisfaction of various conditions to completion (set out below), Atrum will acquire a total of
1,042,017,264 ACG shares and 576,000,000 warrants that are convertible into a similar number of ACG shares.
The exercise of the warrants would result in Atrum acquiring a total of 1,618,017,264 ACG shares (amounting
to an interest of 26.68% of ACG's enlarged issued share capital).

The consideration for the Acquisition will consist of the following cash and scrip components payable on
completion of the Acquisition:

a cash payment of US$3,000,000;
a cash payment of approximately US$1,130,000 for outstanding warrants and as a negative control
premium, the payment of which is conditional on Atrum acquiring a minimum of 25.01% of ACG on a
fully diluted basis; and
such number of Atrum shares that is equal to US$3,000,000 (Consideration Shares).

When calculating the number of Consideration Shares to be issued, Atrum must use the volume weighted
average price of Atrum shares during the 10 trading days immediately before completion of the Acquisition
and applying the AUD/USD exchange rate for the business day before the day on which completion of the
Acquisition is to occur.

The transaction is not expected to result in any changes to the Atrum board.

Conditions to Completion

Completion of the Acquisition is subject to a number of conditions being satisfied or waived.  If required by
Atrum during the due diligence process, the parties will be required to enter into a more detailed share
purchase agreement documenting the terms of the Acquisition. The other conditions include:

Atrum calling an EGM of its shareholders and obtaining all approvals necessary to enter into or
obtain the benefit of the escrow agreement referred to below, issue the Consideration Shares to the
Vendors, finance the Acquisition and otherwise complete the Acquisition.
A condition relating to the financing of the Acquisition.
The results of any due diligence investigation carried out by Atrum in relation to ACG and its
subsidiaries being satisfactory to Atrum.
The Vendors each signing an escrow agreement under which they agree not to sell or otherwise
deal with any of the Consideration Shares to be issued to the Vendors for a period of 12 months
following completion of the Acquisition (unless the dealing is part of a transfer arranged by Atrum
and approved by the relevant Vendor).

Atrum Shareholder Approvals

At an EGM held on 29 September 2016, Atrum has received approval from shareholders under Listing Rule 7.1
in relation to the allotment of the Consideration Shares.  As at the date of this announcement, Atrum has
obtained a determination from the ASX that the transaction will not require approval from shareholders
under Listing Rules 11.1.2 or 11.2.  Atrum is not required to re-comply with the requirements for admission and
quotation under Listing Rule 11.1.3.
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Settlement of Litigation

Regarding the Western Australia Supreme Court proceedings (CIV 1866 of 2015) and the Federal Court of
Australia proceedings (NSD1334 of 2015) involving former directors Mr Moran and Mr D'Anna.  An agreed no-
liability settlement has been reached in both proceedings, which will be dismissed by consent.

The Company has signed a Confidential Settlement Deed covering both proceedings, on the basis that the
parties pay their own costs in relation to the litigation, apart from a payment to Ms Stevenson.
As part of the Settlement, Atrum through its wholly owned subsidiary, Atrum Coal Groundhog Inc., secured
five tenements from BC Anthracite Inc. that will be amalgamated with the Company’s Groundhog East
Project.  As well, Atrum secured a 1.5% ex-mine gate royalty over 25 of its tenements to Atrum and a 0.5% ex-
mine gate royalty over 6 of its tenements.

The companies have also agreed to work together to develop infrastructure solutions for the Groundhog
region, with the aim of sharing the costs of infrastructure development.  The parties have also agreed a
confidentiality regime with respect to the terms of settlement of both proceedings.

Issue of shares and options

Subsequent to the year end, the following issues of shares and options have occurred:

On 1 July 2016, 2,500,000 fully paid ordinary shares were issued following exercise of options.

On 5 July 2016, 1,800,000 fully paid ordinary shares were issued following exercise of options.

On 8 August 2016, 433,210 fully paid ordinary shares options were issued following conversion of convertible
notes.

On 11 August 2016, 203,465 fully paid ordinary shares options were issued following conversion of convertible
notes.

On 12 August 2016, 108,754 fully paid ordinary shares options were issued following conversion of convertible
notes.

On 22 August 2016, 10,000 fully paid ordinary shares were issued following exercise of options.

On 6 September 2016, 19,792 fully paid ordinary shares were issued following exercise of options.

On 13 September 2016, 481,818 fully paid ordinary shares options were issued following conversion of
convertible notes.
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LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS AND EXPECTED RESULTS

The Company will continue to pursue its principal activity of exploration and evaluation, particularly in
respect to the Projects as more particularly outlined in the company review.  The Company will also continue
to pursue other potential investment opportunities to enhance shareholder value.

The Company continues with the ongoing development at the Groundhog Anthracite Project following the
award of the bulk sample permit for the north-west zone of Groundhog.

MEETINGS OF DIRECTORS

The numbers of meetings of directors (including meetings of committees of directors) held during the year
and the number of meetings attended by each director were as follows:

2016 2015
Board of Directors Board of Directors

Number eligible
to attend

Number
attended

Number eligible
to attend

Number
attended

R Bell 7 7 N/A N/A
J Chisholm 8 8 8 8
Cameron Vorias 8 8 8 8
Steve Boulton 8 8 8 8
John Wasik 7 7 N/A N/A

Outside of the above meetings of directors, the Company conducted its directors meetings and resolved
certain corporate matters via circular resolutions of directors.

REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED)

The  directors  are  pleased  to  present  Atrum  Coal  NL’s  2016  remuneration  report  which  sets  out  the
remuneration information for the company’s non-executive directors, executive directors and other key
management personnel.

This report details the nature and amount of remuneration for each director and executive of Atrum Coal NL.
The information provided in the remuneration report includes remuneration disclosures that are audited as
required by section 308(3C) of the Corporations Act 2001.

For the purposes of this report Key Management Personnel of the Group are defined as those persons having
authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the major activities of the group, directly or
indirectly, including any director (whether executive or otherwise) of the parent company.

For the purposes of this report the term “executive” includes those key management personnel who are not
directors of the parent company.

(a) Remuneration policy
(b) Remuneration structure
(c) Service agreements
(d) Details of remuneration for the year
(e) Details of share-based compensation and equity instruments held by Key management personnel
(f) Voting and comments made at the Company’s 2015 Annual General Meeting
(g) Other transactions with key management personnel
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REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) (CONT.)

The KMP’s covered in this report include:

1. Robert Bell Executive Chairman (appointed 31 August 2015)
2. James Chisholm Non-Executive Director (appointed 25 October 2011)
3. Cameron Vorias Non-Executive Director (appointed 3 July 2014)
4. Steve Boulton Non-Executive Director (appointed 22 August 2014)
5. John Wasik Non-Executive Director (appointed 31 August 2015)

REMUNERATION GOVERNANCE

Remuneration Committee

The full Board carries out the roles and responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee and is responsible for
determining and reviewing the compensation arrangements for the Directors themselves, the Managing
Director and any Executives.

Executive remuneration is reviewed annually having regard to individual and business performance, relevant
comparative remuneration and internal and independent external advice.  No independent advice has
been sought by the Company during the respective financial year in relation to remuneration structure and
levels.

A. Remuneration policy

The Board policy  is  to  remunerate directors  at  market  rates  for  time,  commitment  and responsibilities.   The
Board  determines  payments  to  the  directors  and  reviews  their  remuneration  annually,  based  on  market
practice, duties and accountability.  Independent external advice is sought when required.  The maximum
aggregate amount of directors’ fees that can be paid is subject to approval by shareholders in a general
meeting, from time to time.  The current maximum aggregate amount as approved by shareholders at the
Company’s general meeting held on 20 April 2012 is $250,000 per annum.  However, to align directors’
interests with shareholders interests, the directors are encouraged to hold shares and options in the
company.

The Company’s aim is to remunerate at a level that reflects the size and nature of the Company.  Company
officers and directors are remunerated to a level consistent with the size of the Company.

All remuneration paid to directors and executives is valued at the cost to the Company and expensed.

The Board believes that it  has implemented suitable practices and procedures that are appropriate for an
organisation of this size and maturity.

In accordance with its remuneration policy, the Company granted performance rights to Key Management
Personnel and Employees as disclosed in Part E of this remuneration report.
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REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) (CONT.)

B. Remuneration structure

In accordance with best practice corporate governance, the structure of non-executive director and
executive compensation is separate and distinct.

Non-executive Director Compensation
Objective
The Board seeks  to  set  aggregate compensation at  a level  that  provides  the Company with  the ability  to
attract and retain directors of the highest calibre, whilst incurring a cost that is acceptable to shareholders.

Structure
The Constitution and the ASX Listing Rules specify that the aggregate compensation of non-executive
directors  shall  be  determined  from  time  to  time  by  a  general  meeting.   An  amount  not  exceeding  the
amount determined is then divided between the directors as agreed.  The latest determination approved by
shareholders on 20 April 2012 was an aggregate compensation of $250,000 per year.

The amount of aggregate compensation sought to be approved by shareholders and the manner in which it
is apportioned amongst directors is reviewed annually.  The Board considers advice from external consultants
as well as the fees paid to non-executive directors of comparable companies when undertaking the annual
review process.  Non-Executive Directors’ remuneration may include an incentive portion consisting of
options and/or performance rights, as considered appropriate by the Board, which may be subject to
Shareholder approval in accordance with ASX listing rules.  At the date of this report the Company had not
engaged remuneration consultants.

Executive Compensation
Objective
The entity aims to reward executives with a level and mix of compensation commensurate with their
position and responsibilities within the entity so as to:

reward executives for company and individual performance against targets set by appropriate
benchmarks;
align the interests of executives with those of shareholders;
link rewards with the strategic goals and performance of the Company; and
ensure total compensation is competitive by market standards.

Structure
In determining the level and make-up of executive remuneration, the Board negotiates a remuneration to
reflect the market salary for a position and individual of comparable responsibility and experience.  Due to
the limited size of the Company and of its operations and financial affairs, the use of a separate
remuneration committee is not considered appropriate.  Remuneration is regularly compared with the
external  market  by  participation  in  industry  salary  surveys  and  during  recruitment  activities  generally.   If
required, the Board may engage an external consultant to provide independent advice in the form of a
written report detailing market levels of remuneration for comparable executive roles.  At the date of this
report the Company had not engaged remuneration consultants.

Compensation may consist of the following key elements:

Fixed Compensation;
Variable Compensation;
Short Term Incentive (STI); and
Long Term Incentive (LTI).
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REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) (CONT.)

Fixed Remuneration
The level of fixed remuneration is set so as to provide a base level of remuneration which is both appropriate
to  the  position  and  is  competitive  in  the  market.   Fixed  remuneration  is  reviewed  annually  by  the  Board
having regard to the Company and individual performance, relevant comparable remuneration in the
mining exploration sector and external advice.

The fixed remuneration is a base salary or monthly consulting fee.

Variable Pay – Short Term Incentives
The purpose of the short term incentive plan is to reward achievement of business objectives on a year by
year  basis.   Each  financial  year  the  board,  in  conjunction  with  senior  management,  sets  the  business
objectives aimed to be achieved during the year to implement the Company’s business plan.

The business objectives are clearly defined outcomes in product development and commercialisation,
achievement of which can be readily and objectively measured at the end of the financial year.
Measurement of achievement of the business objectives also involves comparison with factors external to the
Company.

No remuneration linked to short term incentives have been issued to date.

Variable Pay — Long Term Incentives
The objective of long term incentives is to reward directors/executives in a manner which aligns this element
of remuneration with the creation of shareholder wealth.  The incentive portion is payable based upon
attainment of objectives related to the director’s/executive’s job responsibilities.  The objectives vary, but all
are targeted to relate directly to the Company’s business and financial performance and thus to shareholder
value.

Typically, the grant of LTIs occurs at the commencement of employment or in the event that the individual
receives a promotion and, as such, is not subsequently affected by the individual’s performance over time.

Variable Pay — Long Term Incentives – Performance Rights
The Company has implemented a Performance Rights Plan for the Directors, Key Management and Staff.
The  objective  of  the  Performance  Rights  Plan  is  to  align  the  interests  of  all  personnel  involved  in  the
operations of the Company and to reward them for the achievement of milestones relating to market and
non-market objectives.  Please refer to Section E for further information on the milestones set in relation to the
Performance Rights Plan.
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REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) (CONT.)

C. Service Agreements

The employment arrangements of the directors are contained in formal letters of appointment, and in the case
of Executive Directors, contracts for services.  Included in these contracts, amongst other things, are reference
to the performance rights plan and participation.

The contract details of each of the Key Management Personnel are as follows:

Robert Bell – Executive-Chairman
Agreement Commenced: 19 November 2015
Term of Agreement: Full-time employment
Details: Salary of C$400,000 per annum plus 3% superannuation

3 Months termination notice by Mr. Bell, 2 months severance if terminated by Atrum.
1,500,000 Performance rights (200,000 granted at commencement of employment)
based upon achieving milestones set out in the employment agreement.

James Chisholm - Non-Executive Director
Agreement Commenced: 25 October 2011
Term of Agreement: No fixed term
Details: Fees of $36, 000 per annum

Cameron Vorias - Non-Executive Director
Agreement Commenced: 3 July 2014
Term of Agreement: No fixed term
Details: Fees of $36, 000 per annum plus superannuation

Steve Boulton - Non-Executive Director
Agreement Commenced: 22 August 2014
Term of Agreement: No fixed term
Details: Fees of $36, 000 per annum

John Wasik - Non-Executive Director
Agreement Commenced: 31 August 2015
Term of Agreement: No fixed term
Details: Fees of $36, 000 per annum

All amounts are in Australian Dollars unless specified.
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REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) (CONT.)

D. Details of remuneration for the year

Remuneration

Details of the remuneration of each Director and named executive officer of the Company, including their
personally-related entities, during the year was as follows:

Short Term
Benefits

Post
Employment

Share
Based

Payments

Performance related

Year

Salary and
fees (includes
Directors Fees)

$
Superannuation

$

Performance
Rights

$
Total

$
Fixed

          %
LTI
%

Directors
R Bell(5) 2016 287,736 - 114,085 401,821 72% 28%
J Chisholm 2016 138,100 - - 138,100 100% -
Cameron
Vorias

2016 36,000 3,420 - 39,420 100% -

Steve Boulton 2016 36,000 - - 36,000 100% -
J Wasik(5) 2016 30,000 - - 30,000 100% -
Total 2016 527,836 3,420 114,085 645,341

Short Term
Benefits

Post
Employment

Share Based
Payments

Performance
related

Year

Salary and fees
(includes

Directors Fees)
$

Superannuati
on
$

Performance
Rights

$
Total

$
  Fixed

          %
LTI
%

Directors
J Chisholm 2015 174,750 - 3,646 178,396 97.96% 2.04%
R Moran(2) 2015 250,000 - 3,646 253,646 98.56% 1.44%
G D’Anna(2) 2015 228,418 - 3,646 232,064 98.43% 1.57%
E Lilford (1) 2015 90,000 - - 90,000 100% -
Cameron
Vorias(3)

2015 36,000 3,420 - 39,420 100% -

Steve
Boulton(4) 2015 30,750 - - 30,750 100% -

Total 2015 809,918 3,420 10,938 824,276 98.67% 1.33%
(1) Resigned as Managing Director on 31 October 2014
(2) Resigned as Executive Directors on 26 June 2015
(3) Appointed as Non-Executive Directors on 3 July 2014
(4) Appointed as Non-Executive Director on 22 August 2014
(5) Appointed 31 August 2015
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REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) (CONT.)
E. Details of share-based compensation and equity instruments held by Key management personnel

Details of Performance Rights:

(i) Terms and conditions of each grant affecting directors remuneration in the current and future
reporting periods as follows:

Grant Date Performance
Right Class

Vesting Period (1)

(Years)
Expiry Value per

right (2)
Performance condition

achieved?
%

Vested
1/02/2014 7 3 N/A $1.31 No 0%
1/02/2014 8 2 N/A $1.31 No 0%
1/02/2014 11 2 N/A $1.26 No 0%
1/02/2014 13 2 N/A $1.31 No 0%
01/05/2014 11 2 N/A $1.68 N/A 0%
01/05/2014 13 2 N/A $1.71 No 0%
01/05/2014 14 3 N/A $1.71 No 0%
01/05/2014 15 4 N/A $1.71 No 0%
01/05/2014 16 5 N/A $1.71 No 0%
01/05/2014 17 5 N/A $1.71 No 0%
01/05/2014 18 2 N/A $1.71 No 0%
1/07/2014 7 - N/A $1.71 No 0%
1/07/2014 8 - N/A $1.71 No 0%
1/07/2014 9 - N/A $1.71 No 0%
1/07/2014 10 - N/A $1.67 No 0%
1/07/2014 11 - N/A $1.67 No 0%
1/07/2014 13 - N/A $1.71 No 0%
1/07/2014 19 2 N/A $1.71 No 0%
1/07/2014 20 4 N/A $1.71 No 0%
4/09/2014 7 - N/A $1.51 No 0%
4/09/2014 8 - N/A $1.51 No 0%
4/09/2014 9 - N/A $1.51 No 0%
4/09/2014 10 - N/A $1.51 No 0%
4/09/2014 11 - N/A $1.36 No 0%
4/09/2014 13 - N/A $1.43 No 0%
4/09/2014 19 2 N/A $1.51 No 0%
4/09/2014 20 4 N/A $1.51 No 0%
4/04/2016 21 1 N/A $0.50 Yes 100%
4/04/2016 22 1 N/A $0.19 No 0%
4/04/2016 23 1 N/A $0.12 No 0%
4/04/2016 24 2 N/A $0.15 No 0%
4/04/2016 25 2 N/A $0.10 No 0%
4/04/2016 26 3 N/A $0.11 No 0%
4/04/2016 27 3 N/A $0.50 No 0%
4/04/2016 28 2 N/A $0.50 No 0%
4/04/2016 29 2 N/A $0.50 No 0%
4/04/2016 30 3 N/A $0.50 No 0%
4/04/2016 31 1 N/A $0.16 No 0%
4/04/2016 32 2 N/A $0.17 No 0%
4/04/2016 33 2 N/A $0.50 No 0%
31/12/2015 34 - N/A $0.45 Yes 100%

1) Vesting probability is assessed at grant date as being 0% for the non-market conditions.  0% indicates
no expense will be recognised until the performance condition is met.  Probabilities are re-assessed
at each reporting period.

2) The value of performance rights with non-market conditions is based on the share price at the date
of grant.  The value of performance rights with market conditions is calculated using a Hoadley
Barrier valuation methodology.
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REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) (CONT.)

Details of Performance Right Vesting Conditions are detailed in Note 20 to the financial statements.

Performance rights granted carry no dividend or voting rights.  When vesting conditions relative to the
performance right are met and the performance right is exercised, each performance right entitles the
holder to be issued 1 ordinary share for nil consideration.

(ii) Details of the performance rights movements for each Key Management Person:

The  number  of  Performance  Rights  held  during  the  financial  year  by  each  director  of  Atrum  Coal  NL  and
other key management personnel of the Group, including their personally related parties, is set out below.

Balance at the
start of the

year
Granted as

remuneration

Disposed /
Lapsed /
Forfeited

Vested and
Exercised

Balance at the
end of the year

Year  ended  30  June
2016
Directors
Robert Bell - 1,500,000 - (200,000) 1,300,000
James Chisholm 750,000 - - - 750,000
Cameron Vorias 60,000 - - - 60,000
Steven Boulton 60,000 - - - 60,000

870,000 1,500,000 - (200,000) 2,170,000

200,000 performance rights vested upon commencement of the Executive Director role.

Details  of  performance  rights  affecting  the  value  of  Key  Management  Personnel  remuneration  during  the
year are:

# performance rights
granted

KMP Year
of

gran
t

Market
based

Non-
market
based

TOTAL Total value
at grant
date 1

No. of
rights

vested
during prior

years

No. of
rights

vested
during

the year

Total rights
vested to

date

No. of
rights

forfeited
during

the year

Vested
%

Maximu
m yet to
vest

Robert Bell 2016 600,000 900,000 1,500,000 $818,810 - (200,000) (200,000) - 14% $704,725
James
Chisholm

2012 937,500 1,687,500 2,625,000 $185,000 (1,875,000) - (1,875,000) - 71% $60,000

Cameron
Vorias

2014 20,000 40,000 60,000 $70,965 - - - - 0% $70,965

Steven
Boulton

2014 20,000 40,000 60,000 $62,665 - - - - 0% $62,665

Total 1,597,500 2,707,500 4,305,000 $1,137,440

1) Value based on grant date value per performance right and class as disclosed above.
2) The value of rights forfeited is nil  due to no expense being recognised for unvested non-market conditions rights

and prior expense recognised for rights for market conditions are not allowed to be reversed under the
accounting standards AASB2.
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REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) (CONT.)

The fair value of these Performance Rights was calculated by using a probability based valuation
methodology with reference to the share price at the grant date to issue the Performance Rights.  Key
valuation assumptions made at grant date to determine the fair market value of the Performance Rights at
valuation date is as follows:

Details of Performance Rights Continued:

2016

Date
Issued Class Number

Issued
Value

Per Right

Probability
at grant

date
Condition Total

Value

Vesting
Period
(Years)

Value
Vested
Current
Period

Value Not
Vested

4/04/2016 Class
21 100,000 $0.5 100% Non-

market $50,000 1 $11,918 $38,082

4/04/2016 Class
22 100,000 $0.1886 N/A Non-

market $18,860 1 $4,495 $14,365

4/04/2016 Class
23 100,000 $0.1179 N/A Market $11,790 1 $2,810 $8,980

4/04/2016 Class
24 100,000 $0.1554 N/A Market $15,540 2 $1,852 $13,688

4/04/2016 Class
25 100,000 $0.1054 N/A Market $10,540 2 $1,256 $9,284

4/04/2016 Class
26 200,000 $0.1104 N/A Market $22,080 3 $1,754 $20,326

4/04/2016 Class
27 300,000 $0.5 0% Non-

market $300,000 3 $0 300,000

4/04/2016 Class
28 300,000 $0.5 0% Non-

market $300,000 2 $0 $300,000

31/12/201
5

Class
34 200,000 $0.45 100% Non-

market $90,000 N/A $90,000 0

1,500,000 $818,810 $114,085 $704,725

Shareholding

The number of shares in the Company held during the financial year by each director and other members of
key management personnel of the group, including their personally related parties, is set out below:

Ordinary
Shareholding
(Fully and
Partly Paid)

Balance at the start
of the year

Issued on
exercise of

performance
rights Additions Disposals

Balance at the end
of the year

Year ended 30 June 2016
Directors
James Chisholm 36,573,500 - 2,162,884 - 38,736,384
Robert Bell - - 200,000(1) - 200,000(1)

Cameron Vorias - - - - -
Steven Boulton - - - - -
John Wasik - - - - -
Total 36,573,500 - 2,362,884 - 38,936,384

1) Value based on grant date value per performance right and class 34 as disclosed above.

The shareholdings presented in the table above comprise all ordinary shares.
No options were granted to key management personnel during the year.
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REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) (CONT.)

F. Voting and comments made at the Company’s 2015 Annual General Meeting

The Company received 0.01% of votes “against” the adoption of the remuneration report for the 2015
financial period.  The Company did not receive any specific feedback at the AGM or throughout the year
on its remuneration practices.

G. Other transactions with Key Management Personnel

On 30 July 2013, Atrum announced that it has executed an Offset Loan Agreement (“Loan Agreement”) with
Lenark Pty Ltd (“Lenark”), an entity associated with non-executive director Mr James Chisholm, providing a
limit of $2,681,927 effective from 30 June 2014 which, upon advancement, could be used to offset the
outstanding balance owing against 13,412,500 partly paid shares held by Lenark Pty Ltd.

The facility accrues capitalised interest at a rate of 6% per annum (increased to 10% on 23 February 2015)
and matured on the date by which the last of the partly paid shares were converted to fully paid ordinary i.e.
September 2014.

On 30 September 2013, the Company entered into a variation to the Offset Loan Agreement in place with
Lenark Pty Ltd.  Pursuant to the variation that was executed, Lenark Pty Ltd increased the credit available
pursuant to the Offset Loan Agreement by an additional $2 million.

The original Facility Limit of $2,681,927 was repaid by way of the conversion of partly paid shares to fully paid
shares.  The subsequent $2 million has been drawn down by the Company as noted in previous quarterly
reports and a $500,000 increase was agreed between the Company and the Lender during H1 2015.  On 27
August 2015, $1,079,384 of the outstanding loan was converted into 2,158,766 ordinary fully paid shares in
order to take up the Lenark entitlement.  As at 30 June 2016, the outstanding loan was $1,618,081.  The Board
considers that the terms of the facility with Lenark Pty Ltd are arms-length.

*** This is the end of the Audited Remuneration Report. ***



DIRECTORS REPORT

18

INSURANCE OF OFFICERS

The Company has insured the Directors and Officers of the Company against any liability arising from a claim
brought by a third party against the Company or its Directors and officers, and against liabilities for costs and
expenses incurred by them in defending any legal proceedings arising out of their conduct while acting in
their capacity as a Director or officer of the Company, other than conduct involving a wilful breach of duty in
relation to the Company.

In accordance with a confidentiality clause under the insurance policy, the amount of the premium paid to
the insurers has not been disclosed.  This is permitted under Section 300(9) of the Corporations Act 2001.

SHARE OPTIONS

During the year 10,348,786 options were issued and 4,480,000 options were exercised.

No person entitled to exercise these options had or has any right, by virtue of the option, to participate in any
share issue of any other body corporate.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

On 9 January 2016 (EST), Atrum Coal NL (ASX: ATU) (“Company”) was served a Notice of Civil Claim filed in
the Supreme Court in British Columbia by a former contractor of the Company, Coal Gas Technology
Company and its principal, Gregory John Bell ("Contractor"), for contested, unpaid Contractor invoices
totalling USD430,649 plus interest and costs.  The Company will continue to seek a commercial resolution to
the matter, respond to and defend the civil claim regarding alleged non-payment of invoices and keep the
market updated as further discussions with the Contractor and the court proceedings progress.

PROCEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF THE COMPANY

No person has applied for leave of Court to bring proceedings on behalf of the company or intervene in any
proceedings to which the company is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the
company for all or any part of those proceedings.  The Company was not a party to any such proceedings
during the period.

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATIONS

The Company is  not  currently  subject  to  any specific  environmental  regulation.   There have not  been any
known significant breaches of any environmental regulations during the period under review and up until the
date of this report.
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AUDITOR

BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd continues in office in accordance with Section 327 of the Corporations Act 2001.

NON-AUDIT SERVICES

Details of amounts paid or payable to the auditor for non-audit services provided during the year by the
auditor are outlined in Note 3 to the financial statements as per the requirements of the Corporations Act
2001.  The directors are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services is compatible with the general
standard of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001.

The directors are of the opinion that the services do not compromise the auditor’s independence as all non-
audit services have been reviewed to ensure that they do not impact the impartiality and objectivity of the
auditor and none of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set
out in Code of Conduct APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants issued by the Accounting
Professional & Ethical Standards Board.

Consolidated
2016 2015

$ $
Auditor’s Remuneration

(a) Non-Audit Services
Amounts received by, related practices of BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd for non-
audit services (incl overseas offices) 79,133 71,160

79,133 71,160

AUDITOR’S DECLARATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The auditor’s independence declaration for the year ended 30 June 2016, as required under section 307C of
the Corporations Act 2001, has been received and is included within the financial report.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of directors.

Robert Bell
Executive Chairman
Vancouver, 30 September 2016
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The Board of  Directors  of  Atrum is  responsible  for  the corporate governance of  the Company.   The Board
guides  and  monitors  the  business  and  affairs  of  Atrum  on  behalf  of  the  shareholders  by  whom  they  are
elected and to whom they are accountable. This statement reports on Atrum’s key governance principles
and practices.

1. COMPLIANCE WITH BEST PRACTICE RECOMMENDATIONS

The Company, as a listed entity, must comply with the Corporations Act 2001 and the ASX Limited (ASX)
Listing Rules.  The ASX Listing Rules require the Company to report on the extent to which it has followed the
Corporate Governance Recommendations published by the ASX Corporate Governance Council
(ASXCGC).

During the financial year, Atrum continued its corporate governance regime reflected in the 2013 Corporate
Governance Statement, which complied with the 2nd Edition of the ASC Corporate Governance Council’s
Principles and Recommendations to the level disclosed in the 2013 Annual Report.

On  27  March  2014,  the  ASX  Corporate  Governance  Council  released  the  3rd Edition of its Corporate
Governance Principles and Recommendations (3rd Edition  Recommendations).   Atrum  has  reviewed  and
updated its corporate governance practices and reporting to enable it to early-adopt the 3rd Edition
Recommendations.

The table below sets out the Company's position as at 30 September 2016 with regards to its compliance with
the 3rd Edition Recommendations:

Principle
#  /
Company
Response

ASX Corporate Governance Council Recommendations

Principle
1

Lay solid foundations for management and oversight

1.1 A listed entity should disclose:
a) the functions reserved to the board and those delegated to senior management;

and
b) Those matters expressly reserved to the board and those delegated to management.

Company
response

The  Company  has  formalised  and  disclosed  the  functions  reserved  to  the  board  and  those
delegated to management.  These functions can be viewed at the Company’s website:
www.atrumcoal.com.

Post reporting date, the Company board comprises five directors, being one executive and four
non-executive Directors.  The roles and functions of directors within the Company are designed to
allow it to best function within its level of available resources.

The full board currently meets regularly, and specific significant matters are endorsed and
executed via circular resolution.

1.2 A listed entity should:
a) undertake appropriate checks before appointing a person, or putting forward to

security holders a candidate for election, as a director; and
b) provide security holders with all material information in its possession relevant to a

decision on whether or not to elect or re-elect a director.
Company
response

The Company analyses and reviews the qualifications and experience of any potential candidate.
Background checks are performed where deemed appropriate for the position, including
speaking with personal and professional references.

The Company provides biographical details of proposed directors, as well as information relating
to other directorships and interest which may reasonably be perceived to influence their capacity
to bring independent judgement to the board.

1.3 A listed entity should have a written agreement with each director and senior executive setting out
the terms of their appointment.

Company
response

Each director and senior executive has a written contract that sets out the terms of their
appointment, including their responsibilities and remuneration.
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Principle
#  /
Company
Response

ASX Corporate Governance Council Recommendations

1.4 The company secretary of a listed entity should be accountable directly to the board, through the
chair, on all matters to do with the proper functioning of the board.

Company
response

The company secretary is directly accountable to the board.  Communication between the board
and  the  company  secretary  is  encouraged,  and  matters  of  corporate  governance  and
compliance are a standing agenda item for board discussion.

Professional  development  of  directors,  officers  and  management  are  encouraged  by  the
Company and facilitated through the company secretary.

The Company adopts a policy of circulating board minutes at the earliest possible opportunity
following the board meetings, to expedite the formalisation of items discussed at the meetings.

1.5 A listed entity should:
a) have a diversity policy which includes requirements for the board or a relevant

committee of the board to set measurable objectives for achieving gender diversity
and to assess annually both the objectives and the entity’s progress in achieving them;

b) disclose that policy or a summary of it; and
c) disclose as at the end of each reporting period the measurable objectives for

achieving gender diversity set by the board in accordance with the entity’s diversity
policy and its progress towards achieving them, and either;
1. the respective proportions of men and women on the board, in senior

management positions and across the whole organisation (including how the
entity has defined “senior executive” for these purposes); or

2. if  the entity is a “relevant employer” under the Workplace Gender Equality Act,
the entity’s most recent “Gender Equality Indicators”, as defined in and published
under that Act.

Company
response

The  Company  is  an  equal  opportunity  employer  and  strives  to  foster  diversity  across  the
organisation.  The Company has adopted a diversity policy that is disclosed on its Company
website.

Due  to  the  current  size,  nature  and  scale  of  the  Company’s  activities  the  Board  has  not  yet
developed measurable objectives regarding gender diversity.  As the size and scale of the
Company grows the Board will set and aim to achieve gender diversity objectives as director and
senior executive positions become vacant and appropriately qualified candidates become
available.

As at the end of the year, the Company had the following proportion of men and women across
the organisation:

Men Women
Board 5 -
Senior Executives 3 1
Whole Organisation 10 3

1.6 A listed entity should:
a) have and disclose the process for periodically evaluating the performance of the

board, its committees and individual directors; and
b) disclose, in relation to each reporting period, whether a performance evaluation

was undertaken in the reporting period in accordance with that process.
Company
response

The Company undertakes an annual review of its board, and of individual directors.  The review
is a peer review, and the process is managed by the Chairman of the Board.
Feedback  in  relation  to  the  performance  of  the  Board  as  a  whole  is  tabled  at  the  meeting
following the review.
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Principle
#  /
Company
Response

ASX Corporate Governance Council Recommendations

1.7 A listed entity should:
a) have  and  disclose  a  process  for  periodically  evaluating  the  performance  of  senior

executives; and
b) disclose, in relation to each reporting period, whether a performance evaluation

was undertaken in the reporting period in accordance with that process.
Company
response

Currently, the Company engages all senior executives as contractors, and contracts were
reviewed annually.  For those contractors that have been engaged by the Company for longer
than 12 continuous months under the current financial year, those contractors underwent a
performance appraisal pursuant to their contracts.

The  Company  is  in  the  process  of  developing  performance  evaluation  processes  and  shall
undertake reviews of its senior executives on the anniversary of their start dates.

Principle
2

Structure the board to add value

2.1 The board of a listed entity should:
a) have a nomination committee which:

1. has at least three members, a majority of whom are independent directors; and
2. is chaired by an independent director,

and disclose
3. the charter of the committee;
4. the members of the committee; and
5. as  at  the  end  of  the  reporting  period,  the  number  of  times  the  committee  met

throughout the period and the individual attendances of the members at those
meetings; or

b) if  it  does  not  have  a  nomination  committee,  disclose  that  fact  and  the  processes  it
employs  to  address  board  succession  issues  and  to  ensure  that  the  board  has  the
appropriate balance of skills, knowledge, experience, independence and diversity to
enable it to discharge its duties and responsibilities effectively.

Company
response

The Company is not of a relevant size to consider formation of a nomination committee to deal
with the selection and appointment of new Directors and as such a nomination committee has not
been formed.  A nomination committee will be put in place in the forthcoming financial year.

Nominations  of  new  Directors  are  considered  by  the  full  Board.   If  any  vacancies  arise  on  the
Board, all  directors are involved in the search and recruitment of a replacement.  The Board has
taken a view that the full  Board will  hold special meetings or sessions as required.  The Board are
confident that this process for selection and review is stringent and full details of all Directors are
provided to shareholders in the annual report and on the Company’s website.

2.2 A listed entity should have and disclose a board skills matrix setting out the mix of skills and diversity
that the board currently has or is looking to achieve in its membership.
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Principle
#  /
Company
Response

ASX Corporate Governance Council Recommendations

Company
response

The current mix of board skills is represented in the matrix below:

Director (A-C)/
Ranking  (1-5)

Skill Skill Overview A B C
Mineral
Exploration

Ability to identify and evaluate resource
opportunities, undertake due diligence on resource
acquisitions, plan and oversee exploration
programs,  and  understand  and  evaluate  JORC
reporting, oversee and evaluate laboratory testing
of mineral resources.

3 5 4

Project
Development

Ability  to  use  human  and  financial  resources  to
develop and oversee project development to first
production including managing budgets, sourcing
and hiring appropriate personnel and overseeing
the establishment of appropriate mining policies.

3 5 5

Mining Experience with mining operations, management of
mining equipment and human capital, including
health and safety.  Ability to analyse mining
operations and make decisions to maximize
profitability.

3 5 4

Risk  &
Compliance

Identify key risks to the organisation related to each
key  area  of  operations.   Ability  to  monitor  risk  and
compliance and knowledge of legal and regulatory
requirements.  Ability to prepare and review ASX
compliant press releases and continuous reporting
obligations.

3 5 5

Financial & Audit Experience in accounting and finance to analyse
financial statements, assess financial viability,
contribute to financial planning, oversee budgets,
and oversee funding arrangements.

3 4 4

Strategy Ability to identify and critically assess strategic
opportunities and threats to the organisation.
Develop  strategies  in  context  to  our  policies  and
business cycles.

5 5 5

Governance &
Policy
Development

Ability to identify key issues for the organisation and
develop appropriate policy parameters within
which the organisation should operate.  Ability to
manage conflicts of interest to ensure shareholders
benefit.

3 3 3

The board has taken on additional board candidates that will allow the Company to increase its
overall mining related skill set.

2.3 A listed entity should disclose:
a) the names of the directors considered by the board to be independent directors;
b) if a director has an interest, position, association or relationship of the type described

in  Box  2.3  but  the  board  is  of  the  opinion  that  it  does  not  compromise  the
independence of the director, the nature of the interest, position, association or
relationship in question and an explanation of why the board is of that opinion; and

c) the length of service of each director.
Company
response

The Board considers three of its five directors, namely Mr Cameron Vorias, Mr Steven Boulton and
Mr John Wasik, to be independent directors.

Director appointment and resignation dates are disclosed in the Company’s annual report.
2.4 A majority of the board of a listed entity should be independent directors.
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Principle
#  /
Company
Response

ASX Corporate Governance Council Recommendations

Company
response

Three of the three directors are deemed independent.  Subsequent to the reporting date this has
been increased to four of the five directors being deemed independent.

2.5 The chair of the board of a listed entity should be an independent director and, in particular,
should not be the same person as the CEO of the entity.

Company
response

The chair of the board, Mr Robert Bell is not an independent director by virtue of his employment.

The Company does not consider this to affect the independent decision making of the board or its
effective operation.

2.6 A listed entity should have a program for inducting new directors and provide appropriate
professional development opportunities for directors to develop and maintain the skills and
knowledge needed to perform their role as directors effectively.

Company
response

The Company Secretary ensures that all new directors are inducted into the Company.  Upon
commencement, the director formalises a letter of appointment setting out the terms of their
appointment and is provided with a ‘Corporate Governance Pack’ containing the Company’s
Constitution, Corporate Governance Policies and details of the Company’s directors’ and officers’
insurance policies.

The skill set of the Board is monitored regularly by the Board as a whole, taking into consideration
the stage of development of the Company’s assets, and the limited capital available to the
Company.

Principle
3

Act ethically and responsibly

3.1 A listed entity should:
a) have a code of conduct for its directors, senior executives and employees; and
b) disclose that code or a summary of it.

Company
response

The Company has adopted a code of conduct which outlines the behaviour expected of
directors, contractors and employees.   The code of conduct can be viewed on the Company’s
website www.atrumcoal.com.

Principle
4

Safeguard integrity in corporate reporting

4.1 The board of a listed entity should:
(a) have an audit committee which:

(1) has  at  least  three  members,  all  of  whom  are  non-executive  directors  and  a
majority of whom are independent directors; and

(2) is  chaired  by  an  independent  director,  who  is  not  the  chair  of  the  board,  and
disclose:

(3) the charter of the committee;
(4) the relevant qualifications and experience of the members of the committee; and
(1) in relation to each reporting period, the number of times the committee met

throughout the period and the individual attendances of the members at those
meetings; or

(b) if  it  does  not  have  an  audit  committee,  disclose  that  fact  and  the  processes  it  employs
that independently verify and safeguard the integrity of its corporate reporting, including
the processes for the appointment and removal of the external auditor and the rotation of
the audit engagement partner
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Principle
#  /
Company
Response

ASX Corporate Governance Council Recommendations

Company
response

The  Board  does  not  currently  have  a  separate  audit  committee,  instead,  the  roles  and
responsibilities  of  the  audit  committee  are  undertaken  by  the  Board  as  a  whole.   An  audit
committee will be put in place in the forthcoming financial year.

The  Board  has  adopted  an  audit  committee  charter  to  assist  in  defining  the  roles  and
responsibilities  of  the  Board  as  it  acts  in  the  capacity  of  an  audit  committee.   The  charter  is
available on the Company’s website www.atrumcoal.com

The charter requires the rotation of the audit engagement partner at least every five years.
4.2 The board of a listed entity should, before it approves the entity’s financial statements for a

financial  period,  receive from its  CEO and CFO a declaration that,  in  their  opinion,  the financial
records  of  the  entity  have  been  properly  maintained  and  that  the  financial  statements  comply
with the appropriate accounting standards and give a true and fair view of the financial position
and performance of the entity and that the opinion has been formed on the basis of a sound
system of risk management and internal control which is operating effectively.

Company
response

The  Company  obtains  a  declaration  from  the  CEO  and  CFO  (or  the  persons  acting  in  those
capacities) prior to the completion of its half year and annual financial statements.

4.3 A  listed  entity  that  has  an  AGM  should  ensure  that  its  external  auditor  attends  its  AGM  and  is
available to answer questions from security holders relevant to the audit.

Company
response

The  Company  ensures  that  its  external  auditor  attends  its  AGM  and  time  is  set  aside  for  the
shareholders to ask questions of the auditor.
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Principle
5

Make timely and balanced disclosure

5.1 A listed entity should:
a) have a written policy for complying with its continuous disclosure obligations under the

Listing Rules; and
b) disclose that policy or a summary of it.

Company
response

The Company has a Continuous Disclosure Policy that forms part of its Corporate Governance
Policies, which is available on the Company’s website www.atrumcoal.com

Principle
6

Respect the rights of security holders

6.1 A listed entity should provide information about itself and its governance to investors via its website.
Company
response

The Company’s website contains comprehensive details about the Company, its directors and
management and its operations.

All Company announcements, as well as its annual and half year financial reports can be located
through the website www.atrumcoal.com

6.2 A listed entity should design and implement an investor relations program to facilitate effective
two-way communication with investors.

Company
response

The Company has adopted a Shareholder Communication Policy as part of its Corporate
Governance Policies.

The Company also engages a dedicated investor relations firm to facilitate investor relations.
6.3 A listed entity should disclose the policies and processes it has in place to facilitate and encourage

participation at meetings of security holders.
Company
response

The Company considers  the country  of  residency of  its  shareholders  when determining the most
appropriate location to hold its shareholder meetings.

Time is set aside at each meeting whereby attendees are encouraged to query the Board on
operational and financial items.

6.4 A listed entity should give security holders the option to receive communications from, and send
communications to, the entity and its security registry electronically.

Company
response

To the extent permissible by law, the Company sends all communication electronically in an effort
to reduce its environmental footprint.

As new shareholders join the Company, they are invited to communicate with the Company and
the share registry electronically.

Principle
7

Recognise and manage risk

7.1 The board of a listed entity should:
(a) have a committee or committees to oversee risk, each of which:

(1) has at least three members, a majority of whom are independent directors; and
(2) is chaired by an independent director,

and disclose:
(3) the charter of the committee;
(4) the members of the committee; and
(5) as at the end of each reporting period, the number of times the committee met

throughout the period and the individual attendances of the members at those
meetings; or

(b) if it does not have a risk committee or committees that satisfy (a) above, disclose that fact
and the processes it employs for overseeing the entity’s risk management framework

Company
response

The Company is not currently considered to be of a size, nor is its affairs of such complexity to justify
the establishment of a separate Risk Management Committee.  Instead, the Board, as part of its
usual role and through direct involvement in the management of the Company’s operations
ensures risks are identified, assessed and appropriately managed.  Where necessary, the Board
draws on the expertise of appropriate external consultants to assist in dealing with or mitigating
risk.  A risk committee will be put in place in the forthcoming financial year.
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7.2 The board or a committee of the board should:
(a) review  the  entity’s  risk  management  framework  at  least  annually  to  satisfy  itself  that  it

continues to be sound; and
(b) disclose, in relation to each reporting period, whether such a review has taken place.

Company
response

The Board reviewed its risk assessment and management framework during the current period as
part of a risk review conducted at the November 2013 Board meeting.  The Board considers the risk
management process to be adequate for its stage of development.

7.3 A listed entity should disclose:
(a) if it has an internal audit function, how the function is structured and what role it performs;

or
(b) if it does not have an internal audit function, that fact and the processes it employs for

evaluating and continually improving the effectiveness of its risk management and internal
control processes.

Company
response

The  Company  does  not  have  an  internal  audit  function.   Internal  control  measures  currently
adopted by the Board include:

weekly reporting to the Board in respect of operations and monthly reporting in respect of the
Company’s financial position, with a comparison of actual results against budget; and
regular reports to the Board by members of the management team and/or independent
advisers, outlining the nature of particular risks and highlighting measures which are either in
place or can be adopted to manage or mitigate those risks.

7.4 A listed entity should disclose whether it has any material exposure to economic, environmental
and social sustainability risks and, if it does, how it manages or intends to manage those risks.

Company
response

The Company is an anthracite exploration and development company and is inherently exposed
to the economic, environmental and social sustainability risks that are associated with its industry.

The Company carefully considers its operations and their impact on the environment and local
communities and engages extensively with local communities and first nations groups.

The Company has no formal hedging policy for its foreign currency expenditure and is exposed to
fluctuations in the exchange rates of the Australian Dollar, the United States Dollar and the
Canadian  Dollar.   Exchange  rates  are  monitored  closely  by  senior  management  and  treasury
decisions are made on an opportunistic basis.   Where necessary, the Company will  enter into FX
hedging instruments and has done so in the past.

Principle
8

Remunerate fairly and responsibly

8.1 The board of a listed entity should:
(a) have a remuneration committee which:

(1) has at least three members, a majority of whom are independent directors; and
(2) is chaired by an independent director, and disclose:
(3) the charter of the committee;
(4) the members of the committee; and
(5) as at the end of each reporting period, the number of times the committee met

throughout the period and the individual attendances of the members at those
meetings; or

(b) if it does not have a remuneration committee, disclose that fact and the processes it
employs for setting the level and composition of remuneration for directors and senior
executives and ensuring that such remuneration is appropriate and not excessive.

Company
response

The Board has not established a separate Remuneration Committee due to the size and scale of its
operations, however the Board as a whole takes responsibility for such issues.  A remuneration
committee will be put in place in the forthcoming financial year.

The responsibilities include setting policies for senior officers remuneration, setting the terms and
conditions for the Managing Director, reviewing and making recommendations to the Board on
the Company’s incentive schemes and superannuation arrangements, reviewing the
remuneration of both executive and non-executive directors and undertaking reviews of the
Executive Chairman’s performance.

The Board believes that it has implemented suitable practices and procedures that are
appropriate for an organisation of this size and maturity.

8.2 A listed entity should separately disclose its policies and practices regarding the remuneration of
non-executive directors and the remuneration of executive directors and other senior executives.
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Company
response

In accordance with best practice corporate governance, the structure of Non-Executive Directors
is separate and distinct from Executive Directors and Senior Executives.

In  determining  remuneration,  the  Board  holds  special  meetings  as  required.   No  Director
participated in any deliberation regarding his or her own remuneration or related issues.  The Board
are confident that this process for determining remuneration is stringent and full details of
remuneration policies and remuneration received by directors and executives in the current period
is contained in the “Remuneration Report” within the Directors’ Report of the Annual Report.

8.3 A listed entity which has an equity-based remuneration scheme should:

a) have a policy on whether participants are permitted to enter into transactions
(whether through the use of derivatives or otherwise) which limit the economic risk of
participating in the scheme; and

b) disclose the policy or a summary of it.
Company
response

The Company has both an employee share plan and a performance rights plan in place.  Neither
of the plans contain a policy as to whether participants are permitted to enter into transactions
which limit the economic risk of participating in the scheme.
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Consolidated
2016 2015

Note $ $

Revenue from continuing operations
Interest income 10,680 103,666
Other income 213,034 2,767
Government grant income - 3,290,472

Expenses
Administration expense (486,524) (756,131)
Compliance & regulatory expense (4,023,612) (1,123,333)
Consultancy expense (779,632) (1,599,689)
Depreciation & amortisation (158,349) (155,908)
Directors’ fees (125,578) (860,759)
Employee benefit expense (963,437) (669,598)
Exploration expenditure (2,314,256) (12,927,501)
Finance costs (833,735) (494,344)
Foreign exchange gain/(loss) (254,904) (585,863)
Impairments expense - (51,186)
Occupancy expense (429,291) (327,916)
Pre-feasibility study expenses (40,207) (1,028,181)
Public relations and marketing expense (132,940) (568,531)
Share based payments expense (937,322) (699,010)
Spin out costs - (45,629)
Travel expenditure (489,217) (709,659)
Loss before income tax expense (11,745,289) (19,206,333)

Income tax expense 2 - -

Loss after income tax expense (11,745,289) (19,206,333)

Other comprehensive income/(loss)
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or
loss

- -

Items that  may be reclassified subsequently to profit or
loss
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations (437,552) 829,495
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax (437,552) 829,495

Total comprehensive loss for the year attributable to
members

(12,182,841) (18,376,838)

Loss per share attributable to members of Atrum Coal NL
Basic (loss) per share – cents per share 4 (0.06) (0.11)
Diluted (loss) per share – cents per share (0.06) (0.11)

The above Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income should be read in
conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated
2016 2015

Note $ $

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 5 1,871,124 253,058
Trade and other receivables 6 1,219,302 4,106,041
Total Current Assets 3,090,426 4,359,099

Non-Current Assets
Plant and equipment 7 1,410,499 1,512,739
Exploration and evaluation expenditure 8 7,046,511 7,181,227
Total Non-Current Assets 8,457,010 8,693,966

TOTAL ASSETS 11,547,436 13,053,065

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables 9 4,751,087 5,488,253
Other financial liabilities 10 2,070,634 3,560,620
Total Current Liabilities 6,821,721 9,048,873

Non-Current Liabilities
Borrowings 11 1,618,081 2,499,342
Total Non-Current Liabilities 1,618,081 2,499,342

TOTAL LIABILITIES 8,273,158 11,548,215

NET ASSETS 3,107,634 1,504,850

EQUITY
Issued capital 12 56,107,573 43,169,269
Reserves 21 4,428,499 4,018,729
Accumulated losses (57,428,438) (45,683,148)

TOTAL EQUITY 3,107,634 1,504,850

The above Consolidated Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the
accompanying notes.
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2016 Consolidated

Issued
Capital

$

Share-
Based

Payment
Reserve

$

Foreign
Currency

Translation
Reserve

$

Accumulated
Losses

$

Total
Equity

$

Balance as at 1 July 2015 43,169,269 3,086,451 932,278 (45,683,148) 1,504,850

Other Comprehensive Income
Movement in reserve - - (437,552) (437,552)
Loss for the year - - - (11,745,289) (11,745,289)
Total comprehensive
income/(loss)
for the year

- - (437,552) (11,745,289) (12,182,842)

Transactions with equity
holders:
Securities issued during the
year 13,428,998 - - - 13,428,998

Capital raising costs (580,694) - - - (580,694)
Share-based
payments/Options 90,000 847,322 - - 937,322

Total contribution by equity
holders 12,938,304 847,322 - - 13,785,626

Balance as at 30 June 2016 56,107,573 3,933,773 494,726 (57,428,438) 3,107,634

2015 Consolidated

Issued
Capital

$

Share-
Based

Payment
Reserve

$

Foreign
Currency

Translation
Reserve

$

Accumulated
Losses

$

Total
Equity

$

Balance as at 1 July 2014 33,833,732 2,387,441 102,783 (26,476,815) 9,847,141

Other Comprehensive Income
Movement in reserve - - 829,495 - 829,495
Loss for the year - - - (19,206,333) (19,206,333)

Total comprehensive
income/(loss)
for the year

- - 829,495 (19,206,333) (18,376,838)

Transactions with equity holders:
Securities issued during the year 9,538,198 - - - 9,538,198

Capital raising costs (502,661) - - - (502,661)

Share-based payments/Options 300,000 699,010 - - 999,010

Total contribution by equity
holders 9,335,537 699,010 - - 10,034,547

Balance as at 30 June 2015 43,169,269 3,086,451 932,278 (45,683,148) 1,504,850

The above Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the
accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Group
2016 2015

Note $ $

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from customers and authorities 3,349,178 160,957
Payments to suppliers and employees (5,910,142) (4,346,524)
Interest received 10,677 51,715
Exploration expenditure (6,048,626) (16,340,069)
Net cash used in operating activities 5(a) (8,598,913) (20,473,921)

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of plant and equipment (71,641) (1,115,379)
Acquisition of mining interests (831,743)
Net cash used in investing activities (71,641) (1,947,122)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of shares and convertible notes 12,204,614 9,143,198
Payment of capital raising costs and loans (1,872,280) (502,661)
Proceeds from loans - 3,611,502
Foreign currency exchange gains/(losses) - (90,992)
Net cash provided by financing activities 10,332,334 12,161,047

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents 1,661,780 (10,259,996)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 253,058 10,322,567
Effect of foreign currency translation (43,714) 190,487
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 5 1,871,214 253,058

The above Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying
notes.
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NOTE 1:  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparing the financial report of the Group, are stated to
assist in a general understanding of the financial report.  These policies have been consistently applied to all
years presented, unless otherwise indicated.

Atrum Coal NL (‘Company” or  “Parent Entity”) is a Company limited by shares incorporated and domiciled
in Australia whose shares are publicly traded on the official list of the Australian Securities Exchange (code:
ATU).   The  financial  statements  are  presented  in  Australian  dollars  which  is  the  Company’s  functional
currency.

The nature of the operations and principal activities of the Company are disclosed in the Directors’ Report.

(a) Basis of preparation

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian
Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board and
the Corporation Act 2001.  Atrum Coal NL is a for-profit entity for the purpose of preparing the financial
statements.

i. Compliance with IFRS

The consolidated financial statements of Atrum Coal NL also comply with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

ii. Historical Cost Convention

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for the following:

available-for-sale financial assets, financial assets and liabilities (including derivative
instruments) certain classes of property, plant and equipment and investment property
– measured at fair value, and
assets held for sale – measured at fair value less cost of disposal.

The financial report has been prepared on an accruals basis and is based on historical costs modified
by the revaluation of selected non-current assets, financial assets and financial liabilities for which the
fair value basis of accounting has been applied.

The separate financial statements of the parent entity, Atrum Coal NL, have not been presented within
this financial report as permitted by the Corporations Act 2001.

When required by the Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to confirm to
changes in presentation for the current financial year.

(b) Going concern

This report has been prepared on the going concern basis, which contemplates the continuity of
normal business activity and the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities in the normal course of
business.

The  Group  has  incurred  a  net  loss  after  tax  for  the  year  ended  30  June  2016  of  $11,745,289  and
experienced net cash outflows from operating activities of $8,598,913. At 30 June 2016, the Group had
a deficiency in working capital of $3,731,295.

The ability of the Group to continue as a going concern is dependent on securing additional funding
through the sale of equity securities to either existing or new shareholders to continue to fund its
operational activities.

These conditions indicate a material uncertainty that may cast a significant doubt about the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern and, therefore, that it may be unable to realise its assets and
discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont.)

(b) Going concern (cont.)

The Directors believes the Group can meet all liabilities as and when they fall due, and recognise that
additional funding will be required through the receipt of funds from the Mineral Exploration Tax Credit
(‘METC’) in Canada and are currently in the process of concluding a share placement, expected to
finalise in October 2016. Based on this placement being successfully concluded, the Directors believe
there  will  be  sufficient  funds  to  meet  the  Group’s  working  capital  requirements  for  a  period  of  12
months from the date of signing these financial statements.

The financial statements have therefore been prepared on the basis that the entity is a going concern,
which contemplates the continuity of normal business activity, realisation of assets and settlement of
liabilities in the normal course of business.

Should the Group not be able to continue as a going concern, it may be required to realise its assets
and discharge its liabilities other than in the ordinary course of business, and at amounts that differ from
those stated in the financial statements. The financial report does not include any adjustments relating
to the recoverability and classification of recorded asset amounts or liabilities that might be necessary
should the entity not continue as a going concern.

(c) Adoption of new and revised standards

In the current year, the Group has adopted all of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations
issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (the AASB) that are relevant to its operations
and effective for the current annual reporting period. The adoption of these new and revised
Standards and Interpretations has not resulted in a significant or material change to the Group’s
accounting policies.

The Group has also reviewed all new Standards and Interpretations that have been issued but are not
yet effective for the year ended 30 June 2016.  As a result of this review the Directors have determined
that there is no impact, material or otherwise, of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations on
its business and, therefore, no change necessary to Group accounting policies.

(d) Statement of compliance
The financial report was authorised for issue by the Directors on 30 September 2016.

The financial report complies with the Corporations Act 2001, Australian Accounting Standards, which
include Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS).  Compliance with
AIFRS ensures that the financial report, comprising the financial statements and notes thereto, complies
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

(e) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of Atrum Coal NL and its
subsidiaries as at 30 June each year (“Consolidated Entity” or “Group”).  Control is achieved where the
company has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain
benefits from its activities.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the parent
company, using consistent accounting policies.  In preparing the consolidated financial statements, all
intercompany balances and transactions, income and expenses and profit and losses resulting from
intra-group transactions have been eliminated in full.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group and
cease to be consolidated from the date on which control is transferred out of the Group.  Control exists
where the company has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to
obtain benefits from its activities.  The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently
exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing when the Group controls another entity.
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont.)

(e) Basis of consolidation (cont.)

Unrealised gains or transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of
the Group’s interests in the associates.  Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.  Accounting policies of associates have
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets in subsidiaries not held by
the Group and are presented separately  in  the statement  of  Profit  or  loss  and other  comprehensive
income and within equity in the consolidated statement of financial position.  Losses are attributed to
the non-controlling interests even if that results in a deficit balance.

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss of control as
transactions with equity owners of the Group.  A change in ownership interest results in an adjustment
between the carrying amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests to reflect their relative
interests in the subsidiary.  Any difference between the amount of the adjustment to non-controlling
interests and any consideration paid or received is recognised within equity attributable to owners of
the Company.

When the group ceases to have control,  joint control or significant influence, any retained interest in
the entity is remeasured to its fair value with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss.
The fair value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained
interest as an associate, joint controlled entity or financial asset.  In addition, any amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.  This may mean that amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.

(f) Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency
The functional currency of each of the Group’s entities is  measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which that entity operates.  The consolidated financial statements are
presented in Australian dollars which is the parent entity’s functional and presentation currency.

Transaction and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into functional currency using average exchange rates for
the period, or where possible, the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the transaction.  Foreign
currency monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the year-
end exchange rate.

Group companies
The functional currency of the overseas subsidiaries is currency Canadian and US dollars.  The Board of
Directors assesses the appropriate functional currency of these entities on an ongoing basis.

(g) Revenue recognition

Revenue  is  recognised  to  the  extent  that  it  is  probable  that  the  economic  benefits  will  flow  to  the
Group and the revenue can be reliably measured.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.  Amounts disclosed
as revenue are net of returns, trade allowances and duties and taxes paid.

Interest revenue is recognised as it accrues, taking into account the effective yield on the financial
asset.



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36

1. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont.)

(h) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash  comprises  of  cash  at  bank  and  in  hand.   Cash  equivalents  are  short  term,  highly  liquid
investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value.

For  the  purposes  of  the  cash  flow  statement,  cash  and  cash  equivalents  consist  of  cash  and  cash
equivalents as described above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

(i) Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost,
less provision for impairment.  Trade receivables are due for settlement within 30 days from the date of
recognition.  Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Debts which are
known to be uncollectible are written off.

An allowance account for doubtful receivables is established when there is objective evidence that
the Company will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of
receivables.  The amount of the provision is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the  present  value  of  estimated  future  cash  flows,  discounted  at  the  original  effective  interest  rate.
Cash flows relating to short-term receivables are not discounted if the effect of discounting is
immaterial.   The  amount  of  the  provision  is  recognised  in  the  statement  of  profit  or  loss  and  other
comprehensive income.  When a trade receivable for which an impairment allowance has been
recognised becomes uncollectable in a subsequent period, it is written off against the allowance
account.  Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against other expenses
in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont.)

(j) Income tax

Current  tax  assets  and  liabilities  for  the  current  and  prior  periods  are  measured  at  the  amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities.  The tax rates and tax laws used to
compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Deferred income tax is provided on all temporary differences at the reporting date between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences except:

when the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and that, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; or

when the taxable temporary difference is associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates or
interests  in  joint  ventures,  and  the  timing  of  the  reversal  of  the  temporary  difference  can  be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of
unused tax assets  and unused tax losses,  to  the extent  that  it  is  probable that  taxable profit  will  be
available against which the deductible temporary differences and the carry-forward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

when the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; or
when the deductible temporary difference is associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates
or interests in joint ventures, in which case a deferred tax asset is only recognised to the extent that
it is probable that the temporary difference will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit
will be available against which the temporary difference can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part
of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised.

Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognised
to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to
be recovered.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to
the year when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Income taxes relating to items recognised directly in equity are recognised in equity and not in profit or
loss.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset only if a legally enforceable right exists to set
off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to the
same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

The amount  of  benefits  brought  to  account  or  which may be realised in  the future is  based on the
assumption  that  no  adverse  change  will  occur  in  income  legislation  and  the  anticipation  that  the
Group will derive sufficient future assessable income to enable the benefit to be realised and comply
with the conditions of deductibility imposed by the law.
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont.)

(k) Goods and Services Tax

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (“GST”),
except  where  the  GST  incurred  on  a  purchase  of  goods  and  service  is  not  recoverable  from  the
taxation authorities, in which case the GST is recognized as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset
or as part of an item of the expense item as applicable and receivables and payables in the
statement of financial position are shown inclusive of GST.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of
receivables or payables in the statement of financial position.

Cash flows are included in the cash flow statement on a gross basis and the GST component of cash
flows arising from investing and financing activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to, the
taxation authority are classified as operating cash flows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or
payable to, the taxation authority.

(l) Leasehold improvements, plant and equipment

Leasehold improvements, plant and equipment are stated at historical costs less accumulated
depreciation.  Historical costs include expenditure that is directly attributable to the items.  Repairs and
maintenance are charged to the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income during
the reporting period in which they were incurred.  Depreciation is calculated using both the straight
line method to allocate asset costs over their estimated useful lives, or in the case of leasehold
improvements, the unexpired period of the lease.  Annual depreciation / amortisation rates applying
to each class of depreciable asset are as follows:

Leasehold improvements Lease term
Computer equipment 33%
Machinery & equipment 20-50%

The assets residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting
date.  An assets carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the assets
carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.  Gains and losses on disposals are
determined by comparing proceeds with  carrying amount.   These are included in  the statement  of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

(m) Financial assets

Financial  assets  in  the  scope  of  AASB  139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement are
classified as either financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, held-to-
maturity investments, or available-for-sale investments, as appropriate.  When financial assets are
recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of investments not at fair value
through profit or loss, directly attributable transactions costs.  The Group determines the classification
of its financial assets after initial recognition and, when allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates this
designation at each financial year-end.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date i.e. the date
that  the Group commits  to  purchase the asset.   Regular  way purchases  or  sales  are purchases  or
sales of financial assets under contracts that require delivery of the assets within the period
established generally by regulation or convention in the marketplace

(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss

Financial  assets  at  fair  value through profit  or  loss  are either:  i)  held for  trading,  where they are
acquired for the purpose of selling in the short-term with an intention of making a profit; or ii)
designated as such upon initial recognition, where they are managed on a fair value basis or to
eliminate or significantly reduce an accounting mismatch.  Except for effective hedging
instruments,  derivatives  are  also  categorised  as  fair  value  through  profit  or  loss.   Fair  value
movements are recognised in profit or loss.
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont.)

(m) Financial assets (cont.)

(ii) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
that are not quoted in an active market.  Such assets are carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.  Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the loans and
receivables are derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process.

(iii)  Available-for-sale investments

Available-for-sale investments are those non-derivative financial assets that are designated as
available-for-sale or are not classified as any of the three preceding categories.  After initial
recognition available-for sale investments are measured at fair value with gains or losses being
recognised as a separate component of equity until the investment is derecognised or until the
investment is determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously
reported in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

The fair value of investments that are actively traded in organised financial markets is determined by
reference to quoted market bid prices at the close of business on the reporting date.  For investments
with no active market, fair value is determined using valuation techniques.  Such techniques include
using  recent  arm’s  length  market  transactions;  reference  to  the  current  market  value  of  another
instrument that is substantially the same; discounted cash flow analysis and option pricing models.

(n) Mineral exploration and evaluation expenditure

Exploration and evaluation expenditures incurred by the purchase or acquisition of the asset from a
private  vendor,  or  through  government  applications  and  licensing  processes  are  recognised  as  an
exploration and evaluation asset in the year in which they are incurred where the following conditions
are satisfied:

(i) the rights to tenure of the area of interest are current; and

(ii) at least one of the following conditions is also met:

(a) the exploration and evaluation expenditures are expected to be recouped through
successful development and exploitation of the area of interest, or alternatively, by its sale;
or

(b) exploration and evaluation activities in the area have not, at the reporting date, reached
a stage which permits a reasonable assessment of the existence, or otherwise, of
economically recoverable reserves and active and significant operations in, or relation to,
the area of interest are continuing.

Exploration and evaluation assets are initially measured at cost.  Ongoing exploration costs are
expensed as incurred.

Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for impairment when facts and circumstances suggest
that the carrying amount of an exploration and evaluation asset may exceed its recoverable amount.
The  recoverable  amount  of  the  exploration  and  evaluation  asset  (for  the  cash  generating  unit(s)  to
which  it  has  been  allocated  being  no  larger  than  the  relevant  area  of  interest)  is  estimated  to
determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).  Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but
only  to  the  extent  that  the  increased  carrying  amount  does  not  exceed  the  carrying  amount  that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in previous years.

Where  a  decision  has  been  made  to  proceed  with  development  in  respect  of  a  particular  area  of
interest, the relevant exploration and evaluation asset is tested for impairment and the balance is then
reclassified to development.
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont.)

(o) Impairment of assets

The  Group  assesses  at  each  reporting  date  whether  there  is  an  indication  that  an  asset  may  be
impaired.  If any such indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the
Group makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount.  An asset’s recoverable amount is the
higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset,
unless  the  asset  does  not  generate  cash  inflows  that  are  largely  independent  of  those  from  other
assets or groups of assets and the asset's value in use cannot be estimated to be close to its fair value.
In such cases the asset is tested for impairment as part of the cash-generating unit to which it belongs.
When the carrying amount of an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, the
asset or cash-generating unit is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific  to  the  asset.   Impairment  losses  relating  to  continuing  operations  are  recognised  in  those
expense  categories  consistent  with  the  function  of  the  impaired  asset  unless  the  asset  is  carried  at
revalued amount (in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease).

An assessment is also made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that
previously  recognised  impairment  losses  may  no  longer  exist  or  may  have  decreased.   If  such
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.  A previously recognised impairment loss is
reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable
amount since the last impairment loss was recognised.  If that is the case the carrying amount of the
asset is increased to its recoverable amount.  That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying
amount  that  would  have  been  determined,  net  of  depreciation,  had  no  impairment  loss  been
recognised for  the asset  in  prior  years.   Such reversal  is  recognised in  profit  or  loss  unless  the asset  is
carried at revalued amount, in which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.  After such
a reversal the depreciation charge is adjusted in future periods to allocate the asset’s revised carrying
amount, less any residual value, on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life.

(p) Trade and other payables

Trade payables and other payables are carried at amortised costs and represent liabilities for goods
and services provided to the Group prior to the end of the financial year that are unpaid and arise
when the Group becomes obliged to make future payments in respect of the purchase of these
goods and services.  The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.

(q) Borrowings

Borrowings  are  initially  recognised  at  fair  value,  net  of  transaction  costs  incurred.   Borrowings  are
subsequently measured at amortised cost.  Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings
using the effective interest method.  Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as
transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down.  In this case, the fee is deferred until  the draw down occurs.  To the extent there is no
evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as
a prepayment for liquidity services and amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates.

(r) Issued capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.  Issued and paid up capital is recognized at the fair value of
the consideration received by the Company.  Any transaction costs arising on the issue of ordinary
shares are recognised directly in equity as a reduction of the share proceeds received.
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont.)

(s) Earnings per share

(i) Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to equity holders of the
Company, excluding nay costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year.

(ii) Diluted earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of the basic earnings per share
to take into account the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with
dilutive potential ordinary shares and the weighted average number of shares assumed to have been
issued for no consideration in relation to dilutive potential ordinary shares.

(t) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of
a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance
contract,  the reimbursement  is  recognised as  a separate asset  but  only  when the reimbursement  is
virtually certain.  The expense relating to any provision is presented in the statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income net of any reimbursement.

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax
rate that reflects the risks specific to the liability.  When discounting is used, the increase in the provision
due to the passage of time is recognised as a borrowing cost.

(u) Share-based payment transactions

The Group provides benefits to employees (including senior executives) of the Group in the form of
share-based payments, whereby employees render services in exchange for shares or rights over
shares (equity-settled transactions).

When provided, the cost of these equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference
to the fair value of the equity instruments at the date at which they are granted.  When the valuation is
deemed to be significant, the fair value is determined by an external valuer using the Black-Scholes
model or the binomial option valuation model.

In valuing equity-settled transactions, no account is taken of any performance conditions, other than
conditions linked to the price of the shares of Atrum Coal NL or its subsidiaries (market conditions) if
applicable.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity,
over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on
which the relevant employees become fully entitled to the award (the vesting period).

The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at each reporting date until vesting
date reflects (i) the extent to which the vesting period has expired and (ii) the Group’s best estimate of
the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest.  No adjustment is made for the likelihood of
market  performance  conditions  being  met  as  the  effect  of  these  conditions  is  included  in  the
determination of fair value at grant date.

The  statement  of  profit  or  loss  and  other  comprehensive  income  charge  or  credit  for  a  period
represents the movement in cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that
period.

If the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the
terms had not been modified.  In addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payment arrangement, or is otherwise beneficial to the
employee, as measured at the date of modification.
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont.)

(u) Share-based payment transactions (cont.)

If an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and
any expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.  However, if a new award is
substituted for  the cancelled award and designated as  a replacement  award on the date that  it  is
granted,  the  cancelled  and  new  award  are  treated  as  if  they  were  a  modification  of  the  original
award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect, if any, of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the
computation of earnings per share.

Performance Rights

The Group issues performance rights to its Key Management Personnel and employees as part of their
remuneration as required in the service/employment agreement.

Each  Performance  right  gives  the  holder  a  right  to  one  share  upon  vesting  conditions  being  met.
Shares are issued upon Performance rights which vest.

(v) Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the
chief operating decision maker.  The chief operating decision maker, who is responsible for allocating
resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the Board of
Directors of the Company.

(w) Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and
are subsequently remeasured to their fair value at each reporting date.  The accounting for
subsequent changes in fair value depends on whether the derivative is designated as a hedging
instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being hedged.

Derivatives are classified as current or non-current depending on the expected period of realisation.

Cash flow hedges

Cash flow hedges are used to cover the consolidated entity's exposure to variability in cash flows that is
attributable to particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a firm commitment which
could affect profit or loss.  The effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is
recognised directly in equity, whilst the ineffective portion is recognised in profit or loss.  Amounts taken
to equity are transferred out of equity and included in the measurement of the hedged transaction
when the forecast transaction occurs.

Cash flow hedges are tested for effectiveness on a regular basis both retrospectively and prospectively
to ensure that each hedge is highly effective and continues to be designated as a cash flow hedge.  If
the forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, amounts recognised in equity are transferred
to profit or loss.

If the hedging instrument is sold, terminated, expires, exercised without replacement or rollover, or if the
hedge becomes ineffective and is no longer a designated hedge, amounts previously recognised in
equity remain in equity until the forecast transaction occurs.



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

43

1. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont.)

(x) Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following
judgments, estimates and assumptions, which have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements.

(i) Exploration and evaluation assets

The Group’s accounting policy for exploration and evaluation expenditure is set out at Note 1(n).
The application of this policy necessarily requires management to make certain estimates and
assumptions as to future events and circumstances.  Any such estimates and assumptions may
change as new information becomes available.  If, after having capitalised expenditure under
the  policy,  it  is  concluded  that  the  expenditures  are  unlikely  to  be  recovered  by  future
exploitation or sale, then the relevant capitalised amount will be written off to the statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

(ii) Impairment of assets

In determining the recoverable amount of assets, in the absence of quoted market prices,
estimations are made regarding the present value of future cash flows using asset-specific
discount rates and the recoverable amount of the asset is determined.  Value-in-use calculations
performed in assessing recoverable amounts incorporate a number of key estimates.

(iii) Share-based payment transactions

The Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the
fair  value  of  the  equity  instruments  at  the  date  at  which  they  are  granted.   The  fair  value  is
determined  using  a  Hoadley  barrier  valuation  methodology.   Should  the  assumptions  used  in
these calculations differ, the amounts recognised could significantly change.

The Company issued performance based rights during the year ended 30 June 2016 based upon
conditions  outlined  in  note  20.   The  Company  follows  the  guidelines  of  AASB  2  'Share  Based
Payments' and takes into account market and non-market vesting conditions and estimates the
probability and expected timing of achieving the performance conditions.

(iv) Convertible notes

In determining the carrying value of the Kuro Convertible Notes, the Group has determined that it
is likely that the Company will either repurchase the Convertible Notes or renegotiate the due
date for redemption.  The Company is currently preparing a Notice of Meeting to call the
noteholders to a Noteholders meeting.  The Convertible notes were issued at $5,000 face value.
No interest is applicable.  Notes convert to ordinary shares at $0.10 per share in Kuro Coal Limited,
may be redeemed for cash by the noteholder, or may be repurchased by the Company. Due to
the intention to call a Notice of meeting of noteholders, the convertible notes have been
recognised as a liability in the financial statements.

(v) Tax in foreign jurisdictions

The Group operates in overseas jurisdictions and accordingly is required to comply with the
taxation requirements of those relevant countries. This results in the consolidated entity making
estimates in relation to taxes including but not limited to Income tax, VAT, withholding tax and
employee income tax. The Group estimates its tax liabilities based on the Group’s understanding
of the tax law. Where the final outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact profit or loss in the period in which they are settled.
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont.)

(y)  New Accounting Standards and Interpretations not yet mandatory or early adopted

The AASB has issued new and amended accounting standards and interpretations that have mandatory
application  dates  for  future  reporting  periods  and  which  the  Group  has  decided  not  to  early  adopt.   A
discussion of those future requirements and their impact on the Company is as follows:

AASB 9: Financial Instruments (effective from 1 Jan 2018)
The Standard will be applicable retrospectively (subject to the comment on hedge accounting below) and
includes revised requirements for the classification and measurement of financial instruments, revised
recognition and derecognition requirements for financial instruments and simplified requirements for hedge
accounting.

Key  changes  made  to  this  standard  that  may  affect  the  Group  on  initial  application  include  certain
simplifications to the classification of financial assets, simplifications to the accounting of embedded
derivatives, and the irrevocable election to recognise gains and losses on investments in equity instruments
that are not held for trading in other comprehensive income.

Although the directors anticipate that the adoption of AASB 9 may have an impact on the Group’s financial
instruments it is impractical at this stage to provide a reasonable estimate of such impact.

AASB 16: Leases (effective from 1 Jan 2019)
The Standard will AASB 16 will replace AASB 117 Leases. The new Standard introduces three main changes:

- Enhanced guidance on identifying whether a contract contains a lease;
- A completely new leases accounting model for lessees that require lessees to recognise all leases on

balance sheet, except for short-term leases and leases of low value assets; and
- Enhanced disclosures.

AASB 15: Revenue from Contracts with Customers (applicable to annual reporting periods commencing on
or after 1 January 2017).
When effective, this Standard will replace the current accounting requirements applicable to revenue with a
single, principles-based model. Except for a limited number of exceptions, including leases, the new revenue
model in AASB 15 will apply to all contracts with customers as well as non-monetary exchanges between
entities in the same line of business to facilitate sales to customers and potential customers.

The core principle of the Standard is that an entity will recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised
goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be
entitled in exchange for the goods or services. To achieve this objective, AASB 15 provides the following five-
step process:

- identify the contract(s) with a customer;
- identify the performance obligations in the contract(s);
- determine the transaction price;
- allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract(s); and
- recognise revenue when (or as) the performance obligations are satisfied.

This Standard will require retrospective restatement, as well as enhanced disclosures regarding revenue.
Although the directors anticipate that the adoption of AASB 15 may have an impact on the Group's financial
statements, it is impracticable at this stage to provide a reasonable estimate of such impact.
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(z)  New Accounting Standards and Interpretations not yet mandatory or early adopted (cont.)

Other new accounting standards for application in future periods:

Standard/Interpretation Effective for
annual reporting

periods beginning
on or after

Expected to be
initially applied in
the financial year

ending
AASB 2014-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting
Standards – Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint
Operations

1 January 2016 30 June 2017

AASB 2014-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting
Standards – Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements

1 January 2016 30 June 2017

AASB 2016-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting
Standards – Recognition of
Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses

1 July 2017 30 June 2018

AASB 2014-4 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting
Standards – Clarification of Acceptable Methods of
Depreciation and Amortisation’

1 January 2016 30 June 2017

AASB 2016-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting
Standards – Disclosure Initiative:
Amendments to AASB 107

1 July 2017 30 June 2018

AASB 2015-1 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting
Standards – Annual improvements to Australian Accounting
Standards 2012-2014 cycle’

1 January 2016 30 June 2017

AASB 2015-2 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting
Standards – Disclosure Initiative: Amendments to AASB 101’

1 January 2016 30 June 2017

The Group does not anticipate early adoption of any of the above Australian Accounting Standards
or Interpretations
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Consolidated
2016 2015

$ $
2.      Income tax

(a)  Income tax expense
Current tax expense - -
Deferred tax expense - -

- -

(b) Reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie tax payable

Net loss before income tax (11,745,289) (19,206,333)

Income tax at 30% (3,523,588) (5,761,900)
Effect of expenses not deductible in determining taxable income 1,352,325 4,039
Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions (i) 172,657 490,880
Tax losses and other timing differences not recognised 1,998,606 5,266,982
Total income tax expense/(benefit) - -

(i) The subsidiaries of the Group operate in tax jurisdictions with differing tax rates.

Atrum Coal NL has unrecognised tax losses arising in Australia, Canada and the USA, which are available
indefinitely to offset against future profits of the Company providing the tests for deductibility against future
profits are met

(c) Unrecognised deferred tax assets arising on timing difference and losses

(ii)    Losses – revenue 2,254,155 2,861,777
Foreign losses - revenue 6,682,273 5,557,430
Other 3,361,004 3,626,163

(iii)  The benefit for tax losses will only be obtained if:

(i) the Group derives future assessable income in Australia or Canada of a nature and of an amount
sufficient to enable the benefit from the deductions for the losses to be realised;

(ii) the Group continues to comply with the conditions for deductibility imposed by tax legislation in
Australia and Canada; and

(iii) there are no changes in tax legislation in Australia or Canada which will adversely affect the Group
in realising the benefit from the deductions for the losses.
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Consolidated
2016 2015

$ $

3. Auditors’ remuneration

(a) Audit services
The auditor of Atrum Coal NL is BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd
Audit and review services 75,480 61,050

75,480 61,050

(b) Non-audit services
               Amounts received by BDO for non-audit services:

Preparation and lodgement of income tax returns
Canada 61,725 47,685
Australia 13,186 16,525
United States 4,222 6,400

Preparation of independent experts report - -
Other taxation advice - 550

79,133 71,160

4. Earnings per share (EPS)

Basic loss per share – cents (0.06) (0.11)
  Loss used in calculation of basic loss per share (11,745,289) (19,206,333)

  Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the
year used
  In the calculation of basic and diluted loss per share

184,741,624 170,136,126

5. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash at bank 1,495,726 175,938
Deposits at call 375,399 77,120

1,871,124 253,058

Cash  at  bank  earns  interest  at  floating  rates  based  on  daily  deposit  rates.   This  note  should  be  read  in
conjunction with Note 18: Financial instruments.

(a) Reconciliation of loss for the year to net cash flows from operating
activities

Loss for the year (11,745,289) (19,206,333)

Add back:
Depreciation & amortisation 158,349 155,908
Share Based Payments 937,332 699,010
Unrealised foreign currency losses (98,877) 445,029
Impairment expenses - 51,186

Changes in assets and liabilities:
Movements in trade and other receivables 2,886,739 (2,361,236)
Movement in trade and other payables (737,166) (257,485)
Net cash flows from operating activities (8,598,913) (20,473,921)
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Consolidated
2016 2015

$ $
6. Trade & other receivables

Current
Rental Bonds and Deposits 37,015 37,272

   GST receivables 350,916 178,240
   Environmental Bond Deposit 157,670 159,232
   Accrued Interest & Tax Refunds (a) - 3,385,384
   Royalty Prepayments 414,921 314,275

Other Prepayments 258,781 31,638
1,219,302 4,106,041

Terms and conditions relating to the above financial instruments:

There are no past due and impaired trade receivables.

The above amounts do not bear interest and their carrying value amount is equivalent to their fair value.

(a) Included within the 2015 balance is a Mining Exploration Tax Credit from the Canadian Government
in relation to the exploration expenditure incurred in 2013 and 2014 totalling $3,290,472.

Information about the Group’s exposure to credit risk is disclosed in Note 18: Financial instruments.

Consolidated
2016 2015

$ $
7. Non-current assets – plant and equipment

Computer Equipment – at cost 89,751 39,211
Less: Accumulated depreciation (26,616) (22,891)
Closing Balance 63,135 16,320

Leasehold Improvements – at cost 74,619 74,195
Less: Accumulated amortisation (65,785) (41,944)
Closing Balance 8,834 32,251

Machinery and equipment – at cost 632,904 639,177
Less: Accumulated depreciation (275,637) (148,433)
Closing balance 357,267 490,744

Building – at cost (in storage) 972,309 961,531
Less: Accumulated depreciation -
Closing balance 972,309 961,531

Furniture & Fixtures – at cost 13,881 14,018
Less: Accumulated depreciation (4,926) (2,125)
Closing balance 8,955 11,893

1,410,499 1,512,739
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7. Non-current assets – plant and equipment (cont.)

Reconciliations
Reconciliations of the written down values and the beginning and end of the current and previous financial
year are set out below:

Computer
Equipment

$

Leasehold
Improvements

$

Machinery &
Equipment

$

Building

$

Furniture
& Fixtures

$
Total

$

Balance at 1 July
2015

16,320 32,251 490,744 961,531 11,893 1,512,739

Additions 49,181 - - - 49,181
Depreciation
charge

(3,731) (23,290) (128,509) - (2,818) (158,349)

Effect of foreign
exchange

1,365 (127) (4,968) 10,778 (120) 6,928

Closing net book
amount

63,134 8,835 357,267 972,309 8,955 1,410,499

Computer
Equipment

$

Leasehold
Improvements

$

Machinery
and

Equipment
$

Building

$

Furniture
&

Fixtures
$

Total
$

Balance at 1 July
2014

2,452 29,698 535,572 - - 567,723

Additions 19,624 25,100 52,006 961,531 14,018 1,072,279
Depreciation
charge

(5,756) (23,848) (127,479) - (2,125) (159,208)

Effect of foreign
exchange

- 1,300 30,645 - - 31,945

Closing net book
amount

16,320 32,251 490,744 961,531 11,893 1,512,739
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Consolidated

2016 2015

$ $

8. Non-current assets – exploration and evaluation expenditure

Peace River Project 130,712 133,210
Naskeena Project 404,528 412,262
Groundhog Coal Project 1,524,203 1,553,343
Panorama Project 4,987,068 5,082,411

7,046,511 7,181,227

Opening balance 7,181,227 1,890,759
Foreign exchange translation differences (134,716) (857,230)
Additions in Year - 6,147,698
Closing Balance 7,046,511 7,181,227

The Group policy in relation to exploration and evaluation expenditure is to capitalise activities relating
to capital acquisitions and development assets and to expense ongoing exploration costs.

The recoupment of costs carried forward in relation to areas of interest in the exploration and evaluation
phases are dependent on the successful development and commercial exploitation or sale of the
respective areas.

Consolidated
2016 2015

$ $
9. Current liabilities - trade and other payables

Trade payables 2,084,639 2,784,960
Confirmed Capital Receivables Facility 2,026,606 1,642,586
Other payables 639,842 1,060,707

4,751,087 5,488,253

Terms and conditions relating to the above financial instruments:
All amounts are expected to be settled.
Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30 day terms.
Due to the short term nature of trade payable and accruals, their carrying value is assumed to
approximate their fair value.
Atrum has secured a Confirmed Capital Receivables facility from Moneytech Finance Pty Limited. The
facility attracts interest of 14.85% per annum.

Information about the Group’s exposure to credit risk is disclosed in Note 18.
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Consolidated
2016 2015

$ $
10. Other Financial Liabilities

Other financial liabilities comprise:
Promissory note - Future Royalty Obligations 1,270,634 2,760,620
Kuro Coal Limited Convertible Notes 800,000 800,000

2,070,634 3,560,620
(a) Future Royalty is payable to Anglo Pacific on extinguishment of balance of Promissory note. Refer to

note 14 for further details.
(b) Convertible notes issued at $5,000 face value.  No interest is applicable.  Notes convert

automatically to ordinary shares at $0.10 per share in Kuro Coal Limited, may be redeemed for cash
by the noteholder, or maybe repurchased by the Company.  It is likely that the Company will either
repurchase the Convertible Notes or renegotiate the due date for redemption.  The Company is
currently preparing a Notice of Meeting to call the noteholders to a Noteholders meeting.

11. Non-Current liabilities - borrowings

Loans from related parties - Offset loan agreement (see Note 16) 1,618,081 2,473,765
Loans from other - 25,578

1,618,081 2,499,343

12.  Issued capital

2016 2015
Number $ Number $

(a) Issued and paid up capital
Ordinary shares – fully paid 195,151,746 56,107,351 170,192,959 43,169,048
Ordinary shares – partly paid 2,761,600 221 2,761,600 221

56,107,572 43,169,269

(b) Movement in ordinary shares on issue

Ordinary shares – fully paid Number $

Balance at 30 June 2015 170,192,959 43,169,048
Issued for cash 22,250,021 10,969,614
Issued against loan conversion 2,158,766 1,079,383
Unissued shares - 1,235,000
Issued upon exercise of options 150,000 45,000
Share payment 200,000 90,000
Payments made for extension of promissory note 200,000 100,000
Capital raising costs - (580,694)
Balance at end of year 195,151,746 56,107,351

Ordinary shares – partly paid
Balance at 30 June 2015 2,761,600 221
Paid up to fully paid ordinary - -
Balance at end of year 2,761,600 221

Total Issued Capital 172,954,559 56,107,572
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12.  Issued capital (cont.)

(c) Terms and conditions of issued capital

Ordinary  shares  have  the  right  to  receive  dividends  as  declared  and,  in  the  event  of  winding  up  the
company, to participate in proceeds from the sale of all surplus assets in proportion to the number of and
amounts paid up on shares held.  Ordinary shares entitle their holder to one vote, either in person or by proxy,
at a meeting of the company.

The Group considers its capital to comprise its ordinary share capital, share premium and accumulated
retained earnings as well as its perpetual preference shares which are classified as a financial liability in the
statement of financial position.

For details of the Group’s capital risk management refer to Note 18: Financial instruments.

(g) Movements in performance rights

The following table sets out the movements in performance rights during the year:

Year Ended 30 June 2016

Class
Balance at
start of year

# Granted
during the year

Vested and
Exercised Forfeited

Balance at end
of year

7 477,500 - - 477,500
8 852,500 - - (60,000) 792,500
9 140,000 - - - 140,000
10 160,000 - - - 160,000
11 160,000 - - - 160,000
13 160,000 - - - 160,000
14 50,000 - - - 50,000
15 100,000 - - - 100,000
16 100,000 - - - 100,000
17 100,000 - - - 100,000
18 100,000 - - - 100,000
19 130,000 - - - 130,000
20 130,000 - - - 130,000
21 - 200,000 - - 200,000
22 - 100,000 - - 100,000
23 - 100,000 - - 100,000
24 - 100,000 - - 100,000
25 - 100,000 - - 100,000
26 - 200,000 - - 200,000
27 - 400,000 - - 400,000
28 - 350,000 - - 350,000
29 - 250,000 - - 250,000
30 - 290,000 - - 290,000
31 - 50,000 - - 50,000
32 - 50,000 - - 50,000
33 - 150,000 - - 150,000
34 - 200,000 (200,000) - 0

2,660,000 2,540,000 (200,000) (60,000) 4,940,000
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12.  Issued capital (cont.)

(g) Movements in performance rights (cont.)

Year Ended 30 June 2015

Class
Balance at
start of year

# Granted
during the year

Vested and
Exercised Forfeited

Balance at end
of year

7 1,721,250 110,000 - (1,353,750) 477,500
8 2,233,750 110,000 - (1,491,250) 852,500
9 30,000 110,000 - - 140,000
10 50,000 110,000 - - 160,000
11 50,000 110,000 - - 160,000
13 50,000 110,000 - - 160,000
14 50,000 - - - 50,000
15 100,000 - - - 100,000
16 100,000 - - - 100,000
17 100,000 - - - 100,000
18 100,000 - - - 100,000
19 - 130,000 - - 130,000
20 - 130,000 - - 130,000

Total 4,585,000 920,000 - (2,845,000) 2,660,000

13. Commitments

Exploration commitments

Under Canadian legislation there is no minimum expenditure commitments in relation to the tenements
held by the Company.  The Company has minimum annual rents due on its projects as follows:

2016 2015
$ $

Less than one year 302,211 297,720
Between one and five years - -
More than five years - -

302,211 297,720

Operating lease agreements

Leases as lessee
Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as follows:

2016 2015
$ $

Less than one year 199,846 140,168
Between one and five years 319,512 277,166
More than five years - -

519,358 417,334

The Company leases office premises in Vancouver, British Columbia and Perth, Western Australia under an
operating lease.  The lease periods run for 3 years, and commenced on March 26, 2015 and June 16, 2014
respectively.

During the year ended 30 June 2016 an amount of $415,103 (2015: $318,710) was recognised as an expense
in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income in respect of operating leases.

Land Reservation and Terminal Services Agreement – Stewart Bulk Terminals
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13. Commitments (continued)

Pursuant  to  clause  3  of  the  Land  Reservation  and  Terminal  Services  Agreement  between  Atrum  Coal
Groundhog Inc. and Stewart Bulk Terminals, the Company has reserved a space of 2,500m2 at the terminal
for the purposes of clean anthracite stockpiling.

The extract of clause 3 is provided below:

3.  Land Reservation

(a)  Stewart Bulk hereby agrees to hold and reserve, for the term of this Agreement, the Building Site for the
construction of the Warehouse Building and the exclusive use thereof by the Shipper.

(b)  The Shipper hereby agrees to pay to Stewart Bulk Terminals Ltd. on a calendar quarterly basis land
reservation payments of $100,000.00 per calendar quarter (the “Quarterly Land Reservation Payments”)
until the earlier of the commencement of shipments of Coal from the Terminal Facility or January 1, 2018
and to a cumulative maximum of $1,400,000.00, in accordance with the terms and conditions of this
Agreement.   The  first  Quarterly  Land  Reservation  Payments  shall  be  due  and  payable  on  October  1,
2014 and thereafter on the first day of January, April, July and October of each calendar year.

(c) Stewart Bulk acknowledges and agrees that the land reservation rights granted to the Shipper under this
Agreement shall be effective from the Effective Date for the duration of the term of this Agreement, as
set out in Section 2.

(d)   The  Shipper  acknowledges  and  agrees  that  Stewart  Bulk  shall  not  be  obligated  to  repay  any  of  the
Quarterly Land Reservation Payments under the Terminal Services Agreement.

The Company is currently in discussions with Stewart Bulk Terminals over the suitability of the proposed area
for the purposes of clean anthracite stockpiling as the current PFS optimisation is evaluating the installation of
a lineal shed with a simple stacker reclaimer system.  The Land Reservation and Terminal Services Agreement
was based on the installation of four individual anthracite storage silos, however, the Company is now
evaluating other options with lower CAPEX associated.

This may mean that the Company no longer requires the reserved land for the warehouse building or the
anthracite storage silos and may negate the requirement to fund the land reservation payments.

14. Contingent liabilities

The following contingent liabilities exist in relation to the Company’s projects located in British Columbia,
Canada.

Groundhog Anthracite
Project
Annual Royalty CAD$100,000 per annum (until  production royalty commences, at which stage it  is

offset against future production royalties)
Performance Bonus CAD$1,000,000 (upon the delineation of the first 200Mt of coal of a JORC Indicated

status - to the extent that it can be considered a proven reserve)
CAD$500,000 (upon the delineation of each subsequent 100Mt of coal of a JORC
Indicated status - to the extent that it can be considered a proven reserve)

BFS Bonus CAD$1,000,000 (upon completion of a positive BFS, paid 50% cash and 50% shares at
the election of the Company)

Production Bonus CAD$1,000,000 (upon commencement of production, paid 50% cash and 50%
shares at the election of the Company)

Production Royalty 1% of ex-mine gate price of all saleable coal to Clive Brookes syndicate
1% gross revenue royalty or a US$1/tonne royalty (whichever is the higher) payable
on anthracite produced from the assets acquired from Anglo Pacific only
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Royalty A royalty equal to US$1 per tonne of saleable product] from the Groundhog North
Mining  Complex  limited  to  the  first  4,000,000  tonnes  of  saleable  product  from  the
Groundhog North Mining Complex

The “Groundhog North Mining Complex” shall mean the coal mining project
located in the Groundhog Coalfield in the northern part of the Bowser Basin in north-
western  British  Columbia,  approximately  890  km  northwest  of  Vancouver,  150  km
northeast of Stewart, and 300 km northeast of Prince Rupert, comprising the granted
coal licences and the coal licence applications.

Future Royalty to Anglo
Pacific

0.5% of  FOB port  selling price royalty  overall  production within  Atrum’s  Groundhog
Anthracite  Project  tenements  for  a  period  of  ten  years  from  the  date  that  Atrum
commences commercial production on the project; and subsequently 0.1% royalty
from production within the Ground North Mining Complex project area.

Naskeena (North) Coal Project
Performance Bonus CAD$100,000 (upon the delineation of the first 20Mt of coal of a JORC Indicated

status)

CAD$50,000  (upon  the  delineation  of  each  subsequent  10Mt  of  coal  of  a  JORC
Indicated status)

BFS Bonus CAD$500,000 (upon completion of a positive BFS, paid 50% cash and 50% shares at
the election of the Company)

Bowron River Project
Shares 450,000 share consideration to be issued on completion date

Purchase Price CAD$200,000 to be paid on completion date

Rent Reimbursement CAD$148,302 of rental amounts to be reimbursed

Royalty From completion, and subject to the commencement of commercial production, a
royalty of $0.80/tonne of saleable coal (based on the tonnes of coal actually
produced and sold) is to be paid to the Grantor every reporting period (quarterly).
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15. Financial reporting by segments

The Group has identified its operating segments based on the internal reports that are used by the Board (the
chief operating decision makers) in assessing performance and in determining the allocation of resources.

The operating segments are identified by the Board based on the location of activity.  For management
purposes, the Group has organised its operations into two reportable segments on the basis of stage of
development as follows:

Exploration - mineral exploration and development in Canada
All other segments – primarily involving corporate management and administration in Australia

The Board as a whole will regularly review the identified segments in order to allocate resources to the
segment and to assess its performance.

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies
described in Note 1.

2016
Exploration

$

All Other
Segments

$
Consolidated

$

Segment loss (4,518,918) (7,226,371) (11,745,289)

Segment assets 9,240,217 2,307,218 11,547,435

Segment liabilities (353,161) (7,919,997) (8,273,158)

Other segment information included in segment loss

Interest revenue 212,508 11,206 223,714

Finance costs (24,949) (808,786) (833,735)

Depreciation and amortisation (146,826) (11,523) (158,349)

Impairment of exploration expense - - -

Segment loss (4,518,918) (7,226,371) (11,745,289)

2015
Exploration

$

All Other
Segments

$
Consolidated

$

Segment loss (13,392,773) (5,813,560) (19,206,333)

Segment assets 12,743,240 309,824 13,053,065

Segment liabilities (3,639,420) (7,908,794) (11,548,214)

Other segment information included in segment loss

Interest revenue 29,868 76,566 106,433

Finance costs (15,822) (478,523) (494,344)

Depreciation and amortisation (141,635) (14,274) (155,908)

Impairment of exploration expense (51,186) (51,186)

Segment loss (13,392,773) (5,813,560) (19,206,333)
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16. Related party transactions

(a) Key management personnel

Consolidated
2016 2015

$ $

Short-term employee benefits 527,836 809,918
Post-employment benefits 3,420 3,420
Share-Based Payments 114,085 10,938

645,341 824,276

Detailed remuneration disclosures are provided in the audited Remuneration Report in the Directors Report.

(b) Other transactions with Key Management Personnel

Offset Loan Agreement with Non-Executive Director

On 30 July 2013, Atrum announced that it has executed an Offset Loan Agreement (“Loan Agreement”) with
Lenark Pty Ltd (“Lenark”), an entity associated with non-executive Director Mr James Chisholm, providing a
limit of $2,681,927 effective from 30 June 2014 which, upon advancement, could be used to offset the
outstanding balance owing against 13,412,500 partly paid shares held by Lenark Pty Ltd.

The facility accrues capitalised interest at a rate of 6% per annum (increased to 10% on 23 February 2015)
and matured on the date by which the last of the partly paid shares were converted to fully paid ordinary i.e.
September 2014.

On 30 September 2013, the Company entered into a variation to the Offset Loan Agreement in place with
Lenark Pty Ltd.  Pursuant to the variation that was executed, Lenark Pty Ltd increased the credit available
pursuant to the Offset Loan Agreement by an additional $2 million.

The original Facility Limit of $2,681,927 was repaid by way of the conversion of partly paid shares to fully paid
shares.  The subsequent $2 million has been drawn down by the Company as noted in previous quarterly
reports and a $500,000 increase was agreed between the Company and the Lender during H1 2015.  On 27
August 2015, $1,079,384 of the outstanding loan was converted into 2,158,766 ordinary fully paid shares in
order to take up the Lenark entitlement.  As at 30 June 2016 the outstanding loan was $1,618,081.  The Board
considers that the terms of the facility with Lenark Pty Ltd are arms-length.
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16. Related party transactions (cont.)

(c) Subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Atrum Coal NL and the subsidiaries
listed in the following table.

Country of
Incorporation

% Equity Interest Description of Activities2016 2015
Atrum Coal Australia Pty
Ltd

Australia
100 100

Dormant

Atrum Infrastructure and
Logistics Pty Ltd

Australia
100 100

Conducting feasibility studies on road,
rail and other infrastructure

Atrum Coal Groundhog
Inc

Canada
100 100

Development of Groundhog Anthracite
Project

Atrum Coal Peace River
Inc

Canada
100 100

Development of Peace River and
Bowron River Coal Project

Atrum Coal Naskeena
Inc

Canada
100 100

Development of Naskeena Coal Project

Atrum Coal USA Inc USA 100 100 Dormant
Kuro Coal Limited Australia 100 100 Holding Company – Dormant
Atrum Coal Panorama
Inc

Canada
100 100

Development of Panorama Anthracite
Project

Atrum Coal Groundhog Inc, Atrum Coal Peace River Inc, Atrum Coal Naskeena Inc and Atrum Coal USA Inc
have financial years of 30 June.  There are no significant restrictions on the ability of the subsidiaries to transfer
funds to the parent entity to pay dividends or loans.

(d) Parent entity

Atrum Coal NL is the ultimate Australian parent entity and ultimate parent of the Group.
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17. Parent entity disclosures

(a) Summary financial information

Parent Entity
2016 2015

$ $
Financial Position
Assets
Current assets 2,281,156 830,595
Non-current assets 7,556,218 7,561,376
Total Assets 9,837,375 8,391,971

Liabilities
Current liabilities 5,600,143 4,387,779
Non-current liabilities 1,618,081 2,499,342
Total Current Liabilities 7,218,224 6,887,121

Equity
Issued capital 56,107,572 43,169,269
Retained Earnings/(Accumulated losses) (57,397,112) (44,725,787)
Share Based Payment Reserve 3,908,690 3,061,368
Total Equity 2,619,150 1,504,850

Financial Performance
Gain/(Loss) for the period 7,223,540 5,517,522
Other comprehensive loss - -
Total comprehensive income (loss) 7,223,540 5,517,522

(b)  Guarantees
Atrum Coal NL has not entered into any guarantees in relation to the debts of its subsidiary.

(c)  Other Commitments and Contingencies

Atrum Coal NL has no commitments to acquire property, plant and equipment, and has no contingent
liabilities apart from the amounts disclosed in note 13.
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18.  Financial instruments

Financial risk management

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise receivables, payables, cash, short-term deposits and
borrowings.  The Group manages its exposure to key financial risks in accordance with the Group’s financial
risk management policy.  The objective of the policy is to support the delivery of the Group’s financial targets
while protecting future financial security.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.  The
Group  does  not  speculate  in  the  trading  of  derivative  instruments.   The  Group  uses  different  methods  to
measure  and  manage  different  types  of  risks  to  which  it  is  exposed.   These  include  monitoring  levels  of
exposure to interest rates and assessments of market forecasts for interest rates.  Ageing analysis of and
monitoring of receivables are undertaken to manage credit risk, liquidity risk is monitored through the
development of future rolling cash flow forecasts.

The Board reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks as summarised below.

Primary responsibility for identification and control of financial risks rests with the Board.  The Board reviews and
agrees policies for managing each of the risks identified below, including for interest rate risk, credit
allowances and cash flow forecast projections.

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the
basis of measurement and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class
of financial asset and financial liability are disclosed in Note 1 to the financial statements.

Risk exposures and responses

Market Risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity
prices will affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments.

Foreign Currency Risk

Foreign exchange risk arises from future commitments, assets and liabilities that are denominated in a
currency that is not the functional currency of the Group.  The Group has deposits that are denominated in
both Canadian and Australian dollars.  At the year end the majority of deposits were held in Australian
dollars.  The Group treasury function manages the purchase of foreign currency to meet operational
requirements.  The Group manages its exposure to foreign currency risk through utilising forward exchange
contracts and options.  The impact of reasonably possible changes in foreign rates for the Group is not
material.

The Group hedges against the foreign currency exposure through the use of Foreign Exchange Contracts
(“FEC”).

The maturity, settlement amounts and the average contractual exchange rates of the consolidated entity's
outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts at the reporting date was as follows:

Sell Australian Dollars Average Exchange
Rates

2016 2015 2016 2015
$ $

Buy Canadian dollars
Maturity: - - - -

0 – 3 Months - - - -
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18.  Financial instruments (cont.)

The carrying amount of the consolidated entity's foreign currency denominated financial assets and financial
liabilities at the reporting date was as follows:

Assets Liabilities
2016 2015 2016 2015

$ $ $ $

Consolidated
Australian Dollars 2,317,412 315,533 (2,420,637) (3,415,683)
Canadian Dollars 758,499 4,022,035 (4,128) (1,406,518)
US Dollars 905 480 (390,090) (390,090)

3,076,816 4,338,048 (2,814,856) (5,212,291)

The group had net foreign currency assets of $365,186 as at 30 June 2016 (2015: net assets $1,394,602).  Based
on this exposure alone, had the Australian dollar moved against these foreign currencies with all other
variables held constant, the consolidated entity's profit before tax for the year would have been affected as
follows:

Loss Equity
2016 2015 2016 2015

$ $ $ $

Movement in Australian dollar against foreign
currency:

Increase/
(decrease)

Increase/
(decrease)

Increase/
(decrease)

Increase/
(decrease)

Strengthening of AUD by 10% 36,518 222,591 36,518 222,591
Weakening of AUD by 10% (36,518) (222,591) (36,518) (222,591)

Interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to movements in market interest rates on short term deposits.  The policy is to monitor
the interest rate yield curve out of 120 days to ensure a balance is maintained between the liquidity of cash
assets and the interest rate return.  The Group does not have short or long term debt, and therefore this risk is
minimal.

The  Group’s  exposure  to  risks  of  changes  in  market  interest  rates  relates  primarily  to  the  Group’s  cash
balances.  The Group constantly analyses its interest rate exposure.  Within this analysis consideration is given
to potential renewals of existing positions, alternative financing positions and the mix of fixed and variable
interest rates.  As the company has no variable rate interest bearing borrowings its exposure to interest rate
movements is limited to the amount of interest income it can potentially earn on surplus cash deposits.  The
Offset Loan Agreement charges an interest rate of 10% per annum on outstanding balances, capitalised until
the maturity of the loan.  The following sensitivity analysis is based on the interest rate risk exposures in existence
at the reporting date.

As at reporting date, the Group had the following financial assets exposed to variable interest rates that are
not designated in cash flow hedges:
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18. Financial instruments (cont.)

Consolidated
2016

$
2015

$
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents (interest-bearing accounts) 375,398 175,938
Net exposure 375,398 175,938

During the financial year ended 30 June 2016, the Company earned interest on financial assets of the Group.

The table below reflects the undiscounted contractual settlement terms for financial instruments of a fixed
period of maturity, as well as management’s expectation of the settlement period of all other financial
instruments.  As such, the amounts might not reconcile to the statement of financial position.

30 June 2016

Weighte
d

Average
Effective
Interest

Rate
%

Less than 1
month

1 to 3
month

3 months to
1 year 1 to 5 years Total

Financial Assets
Non-interest bearing 1,219,302 - - - 1,219,302
Variable interest rate
instruments 0% 1,464,874 - - - 1,464,874

Fixed interest rate
instruments 2.53% - 375,398 - - 375,398

2,684,176 375,398 - - 3,059,574
Financial Liabilities
Non-interest bearing (4,615,115) - - - (6,821,721)
Interest bearing – fixed
rate
Borrowings - Confirmed
Capital Receivables
facility 14.85%

- - (2,206,606) - (2,206,606)

Fixed interest rate
instruments 10% - - - (1,618,081) (1,618,081)

(4,615,115) - (2,206,606) (1,618,081) (8,439,802)

Net Financial Assets (1,930,939) 375,398 (2,206,606) (1,618,081) (5,380,228)
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18.  Financial instruments (cont.)

30 June 2015

Weighted
Average
Effective
Interest

Rate
%

Less than 1
month

1 to 3
month

3 months
to 1 year 1 to 5 years Total

Financial Assets
Non-interest bearing 2,865,195 - - - 2,865,195
Variable interest rates
instruments 0% 175,938 - - - 175,938

Fixed interest rates
instruments 2.78% - 77,120 - - 77,120

3,041,133 77,120 - - 3,118,253
Financial Liabilities
Non-interest bearing (8,848,420) - - - (8,848,420)
Fixed interest rate
instruments 10.00% - - - (2,499,342) (2,499,342)

(8,848,420) - - (2,499,342) (11,347,762)

Net Financial Assets (5,807,287) 77,120 - (2,499,342) (8,229,509)

Net fair value of financial assets and liabilities

The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents approximates fair value because of their short-term
maturity.

Interest Rate Sensitivity Analysis

At 30 June 2016, the effect on loss and equity as a result of changes in the interest rate, with all other variable
remaining constant would be as follows:

2016
$

2015
$

CHANGE IN LOSS
Increase in interest rate by 1% 15,595 19,137
Decrease in interest rate by 1% (15,595) (19,137)

2016
$

2015
$

CHANGE IN EQUITY
Increase in interest rate by 1% 15,595 19,137
Decrease in interest rate by 1% (15,595) (19,137)
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18.  Financial instruments (cont.)
Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.  The
Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient
liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring
unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

The  Group  has  no  significant  exposure  to  liquidity  risk.   The  Group  manages  liquidity  risk  by  monitoring
immediate and forecast cash requirements and ensuring adequate cash reserves are maintained.  All
financial liabilities are due within 30 days.

Remaining contractual maturities
The following table details the expected maturity of the Group’s financial liabilities based on the earliest date
of maturity or payment respectively.  The amounts are stated on an undiscounted basis and include interest.

Consolidated

W.Av
Interest

Rate
%

Less than
1 month

$

1 – 3
Months

$

3 months –
1 year

$
1 – 5 years

$

Remaining
contractual
maturities

$
2016
Non-derivatives
Non-interest bearing
Trade and other payables - 2,557,937 - - - 2,557,937

Interest bearing – fixed rate
Borrowings - Confirmed
Capital Receivables facility 14.85% - - 2,206,606 - 2,206,606
Borrowings – offset loan
agreement 10% - - - 1,618,081 1,618,081
Total non-derivatives 2,557,937 - 2,206,606 1,618,081 6,382,624

Derivatives - - - - -
Total derivatives - - - - -

W.Av
Interest

Rate
%

Less than
1 month

$

1 – 3
Months

$

3 months –
1 year

$
1 – 5 years

$

Remaining
contractual
maturities

$

2015
Non-derivatives
Non-interest bearing 7,127,182 - - - 7,127,182
Trade and other payables -

Interest bearing – fixed rate - - 1,721,238 - 1,721,238
Borrowings - Confirmed
Capital Receivables facility 9.25% - - - 2,499,342 2,499,342
Borrowings – offset loan
agreement 10.0% 7,127,182 - 1,721,238 2,499,342 11,347,762
Total non-derivatives

Derivatives
Forward exchange contracts
net settled

-
90,992 - - - 90,992

Total derivatives 90,992 - - - 90,992
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18.  Financial instruments (cont.)

Credit risk

Credit risk arises from the financial assets of the Group, which comprise deposits with banks and trade and
other receivables.  The Group’s exposure to credit risk arises from potential default of the counter party, with
the maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these instruments.  The carrying amount of financial
assets included in the statement of financial position represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk
in relation to those assets.

The Group operates in the mining exploration sector; it therefore does not have trade receivables and is not
exposed to credit  risk  in  relation to trade receivables.   The Group does not  have any significant  credit  risk
exposure to any single counterparty or any Company of counterparties having similar characteristics.

The Group does not hold any credit derivatives to offset its credit exposure which is considered appropriate
for a junior explorer.

The Group trades only with recognised, credit worthy third parties and as such collateral is not requested nor
is it the Group’s policy to secure its trade and other receivables.  The nature of the business is such that it is
common not to maintain material receivables.

Receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Group does not have a
significant exposure to bad debts.

The Group’s cash deposits are held with a major Australian banking institution (Commonwealth Bank of
Australia and NAB) holding a AA- credit rating, otherwise, there are no significant concentrations of credit risk
within the Group.  The Company also holds bank accounts with Chase in the US (A+ Rating) and TD Canada
Trust (AA-), Bank of Montreal.

Capital Management Risk

Management controls the capital of the Group in order to maximise the return to shareholders and ensure
that the Group can fund its operations and continue as a going concern.

Management effectively manages the Group’s capital by assessing the Group’s financial risks and adjusting
its  capital  structure  in  response  to  changes  in  these  risks  and  in  the  market.   These  responses  include  the
management of expenditure and debt levels and share and option issues.

The Group has in place the Offset Loan Agreement and trade payables.  There have been no changes in
the strategy adopted by management to control capital of the Group since the prior year.

Due to the nature of the Group’s activities, being mineral exploration, it does not have ready access to
credit facilities and therefore is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.  Accordingly, the
objective of the Group’s capital risk management is to balance the current working capital position against
the requirements to meet exploration programmes and corporate overheads.  This is achieved by
maintaining appropriate liquidity to meet anticipated operating requirements, with a view to initiating
appropriate capital raisings as required.

Commodity Price Risk

The Group’s exposure to commodity price risk is limited given the Group is still in the development phase.

Fair Value

The methods of estimating fair value are outlined in the relevant notes to the financial statements.  All
financial assets and liabilities recognised in the statement of financial position, whether they are carried at
cost or fair value, are recognised at amounts that represent a reasonable approximation of fair values unless
otherwise stated in the applicable notes.
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19. Key management personnel

Refer to note 16 for details of remuneration paid to key management personnel and other related party
transactions.

20.  Share based payments

The follow table outlines the share based payment expense for 2016:

$
Share based payment expense for the previous year (to 30 June 2015) 669,010
Share based payment expense for the current year (to 30 June 2016) 937,322

The following outlines the fair value calculations for share based payments issued during the period.

(i) Performance Rights

During the financial year the movements in performance rights issued by the Company was as follows:

Balance at Start of
Year

Issued as
Remuneration

Exercised Forfeited Balance at End
of Year

2,660,000 2,540,000 (200,000) (60,000) 4,940,000

Performance rights issued during the year, and the value of rights issued in prior years that vested in the current
year resulted in share based payments expenses of $554,510 (2015: $1,732,990).  An amount of $114,085 (2015:
$84,952) related to share based payment made to the Directors of the Company.

The fair value of these Performance Rights was calculated by using a probability based valuation
methodology with reference to the share price at the grant date to issue the Performance Rights.

2016

Date
Issued Class Number

Issued

Value
Per

Right

Probability
at grant

date
Condition Total

Value

Vestin
g

Period
(Years)

Value
Vested
Curren

t
Period

Value Not
Vested

1/2/14 Class
7 30,000 $1.31 10% Non-

market $3,930 3 $1,312 $775

1/7/14 Class
7 60,000 1.71 10% Non-

market
10,260 3 $3,426 $3,426

4/9/14 Class
7 50,000 $1.510 10% Non-

market $7,550 3 $2,521 $2,969

1/2/14 Class
8 30,000 1.31 50% Non-

market $19,650 2 $5,814 -

1/7/14 Class
8 60,000 $1.710 50% Non-

market $51,300 2 $25,720 -

4/9/14 Class
8 50,000 $1.510 50% Non-

market $37,750 2 $18,927 $3,361

1/7/14 Class
9 60,000 $1.710 80% Non-

market $82,080 1 $225 -

4/9/14 Class
9 50,000 $1.510 80% Non-

market $60,400 1 $10,922 -

1/7/14 Class
10 60,000 $1.667 N/A Market $100,035 1 $274 -

4/9/14 Class
10 50,000 $1.435 N/A Market $71,725 1 $12,969 -

1/2/14 Class
11 30,000 $1.264 N/A Market $37,926 2 $11,222 -

1/5/14 Class
11 20,000 $1.676 N/A Market $33,524 2 $14,007 -
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1/7/14 Class
11 60,000 $1.625 N/A Market $97,470 2 $48,869 -

4/9/14 Class
11 50,000 $1.359 N/A Market $67,950 2 $34,068 $6,050

1/2/14 Class
13 30,000 $1.31 75% Non-

market $39,300 2 $8,721 -

1/5/14 Class
13 20,000 $1.71 75% Non-

market $25,650 2 10,717 -

1/7/14 Class
13 60,000 $1.71 75% Non-

market $76,950 2 $38,580 -

4/9/14 Class
13 50,000 $1.51 75% Non-

market $56,625 2 $28,390 $5,042

1/5/14 Class
14 50,000 $1.71 50% Non-

market $42,750 3 $14,276 $11,897

1/5/14 Class
15 100,000 $1.71 25% Non-

market $42,750 4 $10,709 $19,605

1/5/14 Class
16 100,000 $1.71 10% Non-

market $17,100 5 $3,427 $9,693

1/5/14 Class
17 100,000 $1.71 10% Non-

market $17,100 5 $3,427 $9,693

1/5/14 Class
18 100000 $1.71 50% Non-

market $85,500 2 $35,723 -

1/7/14 Class
19 100,000 $1.71 50% Non-

market $85,500 2 $42,867 -

4/9/14 Class
19 30,000 $1.51 50% Non-

market $22,650 2 $11,356 $2,017

1/7/14 Class
20 100,000 $1.71 50% Non-

market $85,500 4 $21,434 $42,750

4/9/14 Class
20 30,000 $1.51 50% Non-

market $22,650 4 $5,678 $12,333

4/4/16 Class
21 200,000 $0.50 100% Non-

market $100,000 1 $23,836 $76,164

4/4/16 Class
22 100,000 $0.189 N/A Market $18,860 1 $4,495 $14,365

4/4/16 Class
23 100,000 $0.118 N/A Market $11,790 1 $2,810 $8,980

4/4/16 Class
24 100,000 $0.155 N/A Market $15,540 2 $1,852 $13,688

4/4/16 Class
25 100,000 $0.105 N/A Market $10,540 2 $1,256 $9,284

4/4/16 Class
26 200,000 $0.110 N/A Market $22,080 3 $1,754 $20,326

4/4/16 Class
27 400,000 $0.50 0% Non-

market $200,000 3 - $200,000

4/4/16 Class
28 350,000 $0.50 0% Non-

market $175,000 2 - $175,000

4/4/16 Class
29 250,000 $0.50 0% Non-

market $125,000 1 - $125,000

4/4/16 Class
30 290,000 $0.50 0% Non-

market $145,000 3 - $145,000

4/4/16 Class
31 50,000 $0.161 N/A Market $8,070 1 $1,924 $6,146

4/4/16 Class
32 50,000 $0.168 N/A Market $8,390 2 $1,000 $7,390

4/4/16 Class
33 150,000 $0.50 0% Non-

Market $75,000 2 - $75,000

31/12/1
5

Class
34 200,000 $0.45 100% Non-

Market $90,000 N/A $90,000 -

4,070,000 $2,306,845 $554,508 $1,005,954
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20.  Share based payments (cont.)

2015

Date
Issued Class Number

Issued

Value
Per

Right

Probability
at grant

date
Condition Total Value

Vesting
Period
(Years)

Value
Vested
Current
Period

Value Not
Vested

1/9/13 Class 3 80,000 $1.105 100% Non-market $88,400 $88,400 -
1/9/13 Class 5 80,000 $1.105 N/A Market $88,400 $88,400 -
1/9/13 Class 6 80,000 $1.089 N/A Market $87,117 $87,117 -
1/9/13 Class 7 80,000 $1.105 0% Non-market - 3.5 - $88,400
1/9/13 Class 8 80,000 $1.105 0% Non-market - 2.5 - $88,400
1/2/14 Class 3 30,000 $1.31 100% Non-market $39,300 0.5 $39,300 $   0
1/2/14 Class 7 30,000 $1.31 10% Non-market $39,300 3 $534 $38,766
1/2/14 Class 8 30,000 $1.31 50% Non-market $39,300 2 $4,011 $35,289
1/2/14 Class 9 30,000 $1.31 80% Non-market $39,300 1 $12,834 $26,466
1/2/14 Class

10 30,000 $1.28 N/A Market $38,388 1 $15,671 $22,717

1/2/14 Class
11 30,000 $1.26 N/A Market $37,926 2 $7,741 $30,185

1/2/14 Class
12 30,000 $1.31 100% Non-market $39,300 0.5 $39,300 $   0

1/2/14 Class
13 30,000 $1.31 75% Non-market $39,300 2 $6,016 $33,284

1/5/14 Class
10 20,000 $1.69 N/A Market $33,846 1 $5,564 $28,282

1/5/14 Class
11 20,000 $1.68 N/A Market $33,524 2 $2,755 $30,769

1/5/14 Class
13 20,000 $1.71 75% Non-market $34,200 2 $2,108 $32,092

1/5/14 Class
14 50,000 $1.71 50% Non-market $85,500 3 $2,340 $83,160

1/5/14 Class
15 100,000 $1.71 25% Non-market $171,000 4 $1,756 $169,244

1/5/14 Class
16 100,000 $1.71 10% Non-market $171,000 5 $562 $170,438

1/5/14 Class
17 100,000 $1.71 10% Non-market $171,000 5 $562 $170,438

1/5/14 Class
18 100,000 $1.71 50% Non-market $171,000 2 $7,027 $163,973

1,150,000 $1,447,101 $411,998 $1,211,903
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20.  Share based payments (cont.)

Details of Performance Right Vesting Conditions

The vesting conditions relating to unexercised performance rights are set out below:

Class 7:  Performance Rights will convert into Shares upon the Company completing a positive BFS at
any of the projects the Company’s has a beneficial interest in; and

Class 8:  Performance Rights will convert into Shares upon the Company successfully securing a binding
unconditional off-take agreement with a suitable party as agreed by the Company in respect
of any of the projects in which the Company has a beneficial interest.

Class 9:  Performance Rights will convert into Shares upon the achievement of a JORC Mineral Reserve
of  not  less  than  50Mt  of  metallurgical  coal  over  the  projects  in  which  the  Company  has  a
beneficial interest;

Class 10: Performance  Rights  will  convert  into  Shares  upon  the  VWAP  of  the  Company’s  shares  as
traded on ASX over 20 days being equal to or exceeding $2.25;

Class 11:  Performance  Rights  will  convert  into  Shares  upon  the  VWAP  of  the  Company’s  shares  as
traded on ASX over 20 days being equal to or exceeding $2.75;

Class 13: Performance Rights will convert into Shares upon the Company successfully completing the
first truckload of anthracite from the bulk sample at the Groundhog Anthracite Project at the
mine gate.

Class 14: Performance Rights will convert into Shares upon the Company successfully completing total
anthracite sales under a binding off-take agreement and subsequently receiving payment
under the agreement for at least 125,000 tonnes from the Groundhog Anthracite Project.

Class 15: Performance Rights will convert into Shares upon the Company successfully completing total
anthracite sales under a binding off-take agreement and subsequently receiving payment
under the agreement for at least 750,000 tonnes from the Groundhog Anthracite Project.

Class 16: Performance Rights will convert into Shares upon the Company successfully completing total
anthracite sales under a binding off-take agreement and subsequently receiving payment
under the agreement for at least 1,500,000 tonnes from the Groundhog Anthracite Project.

Class 17: Performance Rights will convert into Shares upon the Company successfully completing total
anthracite sales under a binding off-take agreement and subsequently receiving payment
under the agreement for at least 2,500,000 tonnes from the Groundhog Anthracite Project.

Class 18: Performance Rights will convert into Shares upon completion of a strategic financing by the
Company with which the holder has played a material role in completing.

Class 19: Performance Rights will convert into Shares upon approval of a small scale mining permit.
Class 20: Performance Rights will convert into Shares upon approval of a full scale mining permit.
Class 21: Performance Rights will convert into Shares upon the Company securing a permit from the

responsible regulatory authority to allow the mining of a Bulk Sample at the Groundhog
Project.

Class 22: Performance  Rights  will  convert  into  Shares  upon  the  VWAP  of  the  Company’s  Shares  as
traded on ASX over 20 days being equal to or exceeding $0.85.

Class 23: Performance  Rights  will  convert  into  Shares  upon  the  VWAP  of  the  Company’s  Shares  as
traded on ASX over 20 days being equal to or exceeding $1.00.

Class 24: Performance  Rights  will  convert  into  Shares  upon  the  VWAP  of  the  Company’s  Shares  as
traded on ASX over 20 days being equal to or exceeding $1.25.

Class 25: Performance  Rights  will  convert  into  Shares  upon  the  VWAP  of  the  Company’s  Shares  as
traded on ASX over 20 days being equal to or exceeding $1.50.

Class 26: Performance  Rights  will  convert  into  Shares  upon  the  VWAP  of  the  Company’s  Shares  as
traded on ASX over 20 days being equal to or exceeding $2.00.

Class 27: Performance Rights will convert into Shares upon the Company achieving a sale of a minimum
5% stake in the Groundhog North Mining Complex Project.
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20.  Share based payments (cont.)

Class28: Performance Rights will convert into Shares upon the Company completing new financing,
that  in  a single financing,  or  through cumulative financings,  raises  A$30 million or  more over
the twelve months from the date of this Agreement, with partial pro rata issuance and
conversion for lesser amounts that are greater than a single or cumulative amount of A$10
million  (no  Performance  Rights  will  be  issued  or  will  convert  or  otherwise  be  payable  for
amounts less than A$10 million).

Class 29: Performance Rights will convert into Shares upon securing a Mining License for more than
250,000tpa at Groundhog.

Class 30: Performance Rights will convert into Shares upon achieving a sale of a minimum 10% stake in
the  Groundhog  North  Mining  Complex  Project  at  a  price  that  values  the  Groundhog  North
Mining Complex at A$200m or more.

Class 31: Performance  Rights  will  convert  into  Shares  upon  the  VWAP  of  the  Company’s  Shares  as
traded on ASX over 20 days being equal to or exceeding 90 cents;

Class 32: Performance  Rights  will  convert  into  Shares  upon  the  VWAP  of  the  Company’s  Shares  as
traded on ASX over 20 days being equal to or exceeding $1.20;

Class 33: Performance Rights will convert into Shares upon the Company securing a small scale mining
permit at Groundhog;

(ii) Options

During the period 1,150,000 options were issued to Panorama Coal Corp as an extension fee for the
promissory note, the shares were granted on 7 September 2015 and expire on 7 September 2017, the
strike price is $0.80, the risk free rate was 2.20%, a volatility of 80% has been assumed with a dividend
rate of 0%. The fair value of the options was expensed as $149,277.

During the period 1,000,000 options were issued to Panorama Coal Corp as an extension fee for the
promissory note, the shares were granted on 7 September 2015 and expire on 7 September 2017, the
strike price is $0.80, the risk free rate was 2.20%, a volatility of 80% has been assumed with a dividend
rate of 0%. The fair value of the options was expensed as $233,535.

These options were issued as an extension fee for the promissory note and as the value of this service
could not be reliably valued, the underlying equity issued have been valued using a black-scholes model.

During the year under review no options were issued as remuneration.

Details of other performance rights movements and balances are set out in Note 13.

21.  Reserves

Nature and purpose of reserves
Share based payments reserve
The reserve is used to record the fair value of share based payments, such options and performance rights,
issued as remuneration to employees, or as consideration for the purchase of assets, services, or
extinguishment of liabilities.

Foreign currency translation reserve
The reserve is used to recognise exchange differences arising from translation of the financial statements of
foreign operations to Australian dollars.
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22. Events since the end of the financial year

Atrum Coal NL has entered into a binding agreement relating to the proposed acquisition of a 26.68% interest
in Atlantic Carbon Group PLC (incorporated in England and Wales) (ACG).

Atrum is intending to complete the acquisition of the interest in ACG (Acquisition) by late September 2016
subject, inter alia, to shareholder approval being gained at an Extra-Ordinary General Meeting (EGM)

Key Acquisition Terms

The binding agreement for the Acquisition has been entered into with Stephen Best (the current CEO of
ACG) and persons and entities connected with Stephen Best, including Mayford Equities Limited, Mary Best,
Willoughby (465) Limited, Lucy Best, Helen Frankland, Penn Carb Inc and Mount Charles (Mayfair) Limited
(together, the Vendors).

Subject to the satisfaction of various conditions to completion (set out below), Atrum will acquire a total of
1,042,017,264 ACG shares and 576,000,000 warrants that are convertible into a similar number of ACG shares.
The exercise of the warrants would result in Atrum acquiring a total of 1,618,017,264 ACG shares (amounting
to an interest of 26.68% of ACG's enlarged issued share capital).

The consideration for the Acquisition will consist of the following cash and scrip components payable on
completion of the Acquisition:

a cash payment of US$3,000,000;
a cash payment of approximately US$1,130,000 for outstanding warrants and as a negative control
premium, the payment of which is conditional on Atrum acquiring a minimum of 25.01% of ACG on a
fully diluted basis; and
such number of Atrum shares that is equal to US$3,000,000 (Consideration Shares).

When calculating the number of Consideration Shares to be issued, Atrum must use the volume weighted
average price of Atrum shares during the 10 trading days immediately before completion of the Acquisition
and applying the AUD/USD exchange rate for the business day before the day on which completion of the
Acquisition is to occur.

The transaction is not expected to result in any changes to the Atrum board.

Conditions to Completion

Completion of the Acquisition is subject to a number of conditions being satisfied or waived.  If required by
Atrum during the due diligence process, the parties will be required to enter into a more detailed share
purchase agreement documenting the terms of the Acquisition. The other conditions include:

Atrum calling an EGM of its shareholders and obtaining all approvals necessary to enter into or
obtain the benefit of the escrow agreement referred to below, issue the Consideration Shares to the
Vendors, finance the Acquisition and otherwise complete the Acquisition.
A condition relating to the financing of the Acquisition.
The results of any due diligence investigation carried out by Atrum in relation to ACG and its
subsidiaries being satisfactory to Atrum.
The Vendors each signing an escrow agreement under which they agree not to sell or otherwise
deal with any of the Consideration Shares to be issued to the Vendors for a period of 12 months
following completion of the Acquisition (unless the dealing is part of a transfer arranged by Atrum
and approved by the relevant Vendor).

Atrum Shareholder Approvals

At an EGM held on 29 September 2016, has received approval from shareholders under Listing Rule 7.1 in
relation to the allotment of the Consideration Shares.  As at the date of this announcement, Atrum has
obtained a determination from the ASX that the transaction will not require approval from shareholders
under Listing Rules 11.1.2 or 11.2.  Atrum is not required to re-comply with the requirements for admission and
quotation under Listing Rule 11.1.3.
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22. Events since the end of the financial year (Cont.)

Settlement of Litigation

Regarding the Western Australia Supreme Court proceedings (CIV 1866 of 2015) and the Federal Court of
Australia proceedings (NSD1334 of 2015) involving former directors Mr Moran and Mr D'Anna.  An agreed no-
liability settlement has been reached in both proceedings, which will be dismissed by consent.

The Company has signed a Confidential Settlement Deed covering both proceedings, on the basis that the
parties pay their own costs in relation to the litigation, apart from a payment to Ms Stevenson.

As part of the Settlement, Atrum through its wholly owned subsidiary, Atrum Coal Groundhog Inc., secured
five tenements from BC Anthracite Inc. that will be amalgamated with the Company’s Groundhog East
Project.  As well, Atrum secured a 1.5% ex-mine gate royalty over 25 of its tenements to Atrum and a 0.5% ex-
mine gate royalty over 6 of its tenements.

The companies have also agreed to work together to develop infrastructure solutions for the Groundhog
region, with the aim of sharing the costs of infrastructure development.  The parties have also agreed a
confidentiality regime with respect to the terms of settlement of both proceedings.

Issue of shares and options

On 1 July 2016, 2,500,000 fully paid ordinary shares were issued following exercise of options.

On 5 July 2016, 1,800,000 fully paid ordinary shares were issued following exercise of options.

On 8 August 2016, 433,210 fully paid ordinary shares options were issued following conversion of convertible
notes.

On 11 August 2016, 203,465 fully paid ordinary shares options were issued following conversion of convertible
notes.

On 12 August 2016, 108,754 fully paid ordinary shares options were issued following conversion of convertible
notes.

On 22 August 2016, 10,000 fully paid ordinary shares were issued following exercise of options.

On 6 September 2016, 19,792 fully paid ordinary shares were issued following exercise of options.

On 13 September 2016, 481,818 fully paid ordinary shares options were issued following conversion of
convertible notes.
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The Directors of the Company declare that:

1. The financial statements, comprising the statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income,
statement  of  financial  position,  statement  of  cash  flows,  statement  of  changes  in  equity,  and
accompanying notes, are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and:

(a) comply with Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory
professional reporting requirements; and

(b) give  a  true  and  fair  view  of  the  Group’s  financial  position  as  at  30  June  2016  and  of  its
performance for the year ended on that date.

2. The Company has included in the notes to the financial statements an explicit and unreserved
statement of compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

3. In the Directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay
its debts as and when they become due and payable.

4. The Directors  have been given the declarations  by the chief  executive officer  and the chief  financial
officer required by section 295A.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

Robert Bell
Executive Director

Sydney, 30 September 2016



38 Station Street
Subiaco, WA 6008
PO Box 700 West Perth WA 6872
Australia

Tel: +61 8 6382 4600
Fax: +61 8 6382 4601
www.bdo.com.au

BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd ABN 79 112 284 787 is a member of a national association of independent entities which are all members of BDO Australia Ltd ABN
77 050 110 275, an Australian company limited by guarantee. BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd and BDO Australia Ltd are members of BDO International Ltd, a UK
company limited by guarantee, and form part of the international BDO network of independent member firms. Liability limited by a scheme approved under
Professional Standards Legislation, other than for the acts or omissions of financial services licensees.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the members of Atrum Coal NL

Report on the Financial Report

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Atrum Coal NL, which comprises the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2016, the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, notes comprising a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the directors’ declaration of the
consolidated entity comprising the company and the entities it controlled at the year’s end or from
time to time during the financial year.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a
true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the
financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error. In Note 1, the directors also state, in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 101
Presentation of Financial Statements, that the financial statements comply with International
Financial Reporting Standards.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our
audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we comply with
relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial report is free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error.
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the company’s
preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the company’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our audit opinion.

Independence

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations
Act 2001. We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which
has been given to the directors of Atrum Coal NL, would be in the same terms if given to the directors
as at the time of this auditor’s report.



BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd

Neil Smith

Director

Perth, 30 September 2016

Opinion

In our opinion:

(a) the financial report of Atrum Coal NL is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:

(i) giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2016
and of its performance for the year ended on that date; and

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and

(b) the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in
Note 1.

Emphasis of matter

Without modifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 1(b) in the financial report, which describes
the conditions which give rise to the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant
doubt about the consolidated entity’s ability to continue as a going concern and therefore, the
consolidated entity may be unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course
of business.

Report on the Remuneration Report

We have audited the Remuneration Report included pages 8 to 17 of the directors’ report for the year
ended 30 June 2016. The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and        
presentation of the Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act
2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit   
conducted inaccordance with Australian Auditing Standards.

Opinion

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Atrum Coal NL for the year ended 30 June 2016 complies
with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.
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DECLARATION OF INDEPENDENCE BY NEIL SMITH TO THE DIRECTORS OF ATRUM COAL NL

As lead auditor of Atrum Coal NL for the year ended 30 June 2016, I declare that, to the best of my
knowledge and belief, there have been:

1. No contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in
relation to the audit; and

2. No contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

This declaration is in respect of Atrum Coal NL and the entities it controlled during the year.

Neil Smith

Director

BDO Audit (WA) Pty  Ltd

Perth, 30 September 2016
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HOLDINGS AS AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2016

The number of shareholders, by size of holding are:

Spread of Holdings Holders
1-1,000 147
1,001-5,000 305
5,001-10,000 229
10,001-100,000 663
100,001 - and over 189
Total on register 1,533

60
Total overseas holders

Substantial Shareholders

The company has been notified of the following substantial shareholdings:

Number Percentage
Lenark Pty Ltd (and associated entities) 38,736,384 19.30%
Russell Harold Moran (and associated entities) 28,982,884 14.44%
Gino D’Anna (and associated entities) 10,495,870 5.23%

Voting Rights

The Constitution of the company makes the following provision for voting at general meetings:

On a show of hands, every ordinary shareholder present in person, or by proxy, attorney or representative has
one vote.   On a poll,  every  shareholder  present  in  person,  or  by proxy,  attorney or  representative has  one
vote for any share held by the shareholder.
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20 LARGEST HOLDERS OF SECURITIES AS AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2016:

Fully paid
Ordinary Shareholder Number Percentage

Lenark PL 38,736,384 19.30%
Moran Russell Harold 28,982,884 14.44%
D'Anna Gino 10,495,870 5.23%
J P Morgan Nom Aust LTD 5,957,707 2.97%
Hurst Douglas Culmer 3,493,083 1.74%
Lujeta PL 3,431,565 1.71%
Stephens B O + E J 3,025,000 1.51%
Wallis-Mance PL 3,000,000 1.49%
CTSF PL 2,845,073 1.42%
Monex Boom Sec HK LTD 2,684,786 1.34%
Topsfield PL 2,535,505 1.26%
Booth William 2,481,606 1.24%
One Managed Inv Funds LTD 2,186,200 1.09%
Sandhurst Ttees LTD 2,133,514 1.06%
Mibro NT PL 2,000,000 1.00%
JSR Nom PL 1,952,354 0.97%
Elphinstone Hldgs PL 1,806,667 0.90%
HSBC Custody Nom Aust LTD 1,791,337 0.89%
Ashabia PL 1,779,942 0.89%
Willstreet PL 1,750,000 0.87%

123,069,477 61.32%
PARTLY PAID SHARES

Details of partly paid shareholders are as follows:

Number
Russell Harold Moran (and associated entities) 2,761,600      100.00%

Total 2,761,600     100.00%



SECURITIES EXCHANGE INFORMATION

79

UNLISTED OPTIONS

Details of unlisted option holders are as follows:

Class of unlisted options Number
of

Options

Number
of

Holders

Options exercisable at $1.40 each on or before 14 March 2017 100,000 1
Holdings of more than 20% of this class
- Mr. Nathan William Ryan 100,000

Options exercisable at $0.80 each on or before 7 September 2017 7,975,418 14

Options exercisable at $0.60 each on or before 2 July 2018 2018 8,198,786 9

RESTRICTED SECURITIES

The company has no restricted securities on issue as at the date of this report.

ON-MARKET BUY-BACK

Currently there is no on-market buy-back of the Company’s securities.

CONSISTENCY WITH BUSINESS OBJECTIVES

The Company has used its cash and assets in a form readily convertible to cash that it had at the time of
listing in a way consistent with its stated business objectives.
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Kuro Coal Panorama Inc.

Tenure Number Owner Tenure Type Tenure Sub Type Map Number Issue Date Good To Date Status Area (ha)
417525 147423 (100%) Coal License 104A 2006/sep/13 2014/sep/13 GOOD 425.0
417526 147423 (100%) Coal License 104A 2006/sep/13 2014/sep/13 GOOD 707.0
417527 147423 (100%) Coal License 104A 2006/sep/13 2014/sep/13 GOOD 71.0
417291 147423 (100%) Coal License 104A 2006/mar/03 2015/mar/03 GOOD 73.0
417292 147423 (100%) Coal License 104A 2006/mar/03 2015/mar/03 GOOD 279.0
417295 147423 (100%) Coal License 104A 2006/mar/03 2015/mar/03 GOOD 851.0
417296 147423 (100%) Coal License 104A 2006/mar/03 2015/mar/03 GOOD 71.0
417300 147423 (100%) Coal License 104A 2006/mar/03 2015/mar/03 GOOD 355.0
417301 147423 (100%) Coal License 104A 2006/mar/03 2015/mar/03 GOOD 851.0
417293 147423 (100%) Coal License 104A 2006/mar/03 2015/mar/03 GOOD 426.0
417294 147423 (100%) Coal License 104A 2006/mar/03 2015/mar/03 GOOD 284.0
417632 147423 (100%) Coal Application 1900/jan/01 1900/jan/01 GOOD 1136.0
418505 147527 (100%) Coal Application 1900/jan/01 1900/jan/01 GOOD 1500.0
418506 147527 (100%) Coal Application 1900/jan/01 1900/jan/01 GOOD 1500.0
418507 147527 (100%) Coal Application 1900/jan/01 1900/jan/01 GOOD 1500.0
418508 147527 (100%) Coal Application 1900/jan/01 1900/jan/01 GOOD 1500.0
418509 147527 (100%) Coal Application 1900/jan/01 1900/jan/01 GOOD 1500.0
418510 147527 (100%) Coal Application 1900/jan/01 1900/jan/01 GOOD 1500.0
418511 147527 (100%) Coal Application 1900/jan/01 1900/jan/01 GOOD 1500.0
418512 147527 (100%) Coal Application 1900/jan/01 1900/jan/01 GOOD 1500.0
418513 147527 (100%) Coal Application 1900/jan/01 1900/jan/01 GOOD 1500.0
418514 147527 (100%) Coal Application 1900/jan/01 1900/jan/01 GOOD 375.0
418515 147527 (100%) Coal Application 1900/jan/01 1900/jan/01 GOOD 1500.0
418516 147527 (100%) Coal Application 1900/jan/01 1900/jan/01 GOOD 1500.0
418517 147527 (100%) Coal Application 1900/jan/01 1900/jan/01 GOOD 1500.0

Atrum Coal Naskeena Inc.

Tenure Number Owner Tenure Type Tenure Sub Type Map Number Issue Date Good To Date Status Area (ha)
417726 147515 (100%) Coal Application 1900/jan/01 1900/jan/01 GOOD 300.0
417838 147515 (100%) Coal Application 1900/jan/01 1900/jan/01 GOOD 1500.0
417839 147515 (100%) Coal Application 1900/jan/01 1900/jan/01 GOOD 1500.0
417840 147515 (100%) Coal Application 1900/jan/01 1900/jan/01 GOOD 1500.0
417841 147515 (100%) Coal Application 1900/jan/01 1900/jan/01 GOOD 1500.0
417842 147515 (100%) Coal Application 1900/jan/01 1900/jan/01 GOOD 1200.0
417843 147515 (100%) Coal Application 1900/jan/01 1900/jan/01 GOOD 1500.0
417844 147515 (100%) Coal Application 1900/jan/01 1900/jan/01 GOOD 1275.0
417845 147515 (100%) Coal Application 1900/jan/01 1900/jan/01 GOOD 1125.0
417995 147515 (100%) Coal Application 1900/jan/01 1900/jan/01 GOOD 1488.0


